In this Draft, a blue font and underlining indicates new text and strikethrough indicates deleted text, unless otherwise indicated.



Astana International Financial Centre, Astana

Contents

1.	API	PLICATION	8
	1.1.	General application rule	8
	1.2.	Modifications and exclusions	8
2.	CLII	ENT CLASSIFICATION	12
	2.1.	General requirements	12
	2.2.	Retail Clients	12
	2.3.	Professional Clients	13
	2.4.	Deemed Professional Clients	13
	2.5.	Assessed Professional Clients	14
	2.6.	Reclassification of a Professional Client as a Retail Client	18
	2.7.	Market Counterparties	19
	2.8.	Trusts and Funds	19
	2.9.	Agent as Client	20
	2.10.	Record keeping	21
3.	COI	MMUNICATIONS WITH CLIENTS AND FINANCIAL PROMOTIONS	22
	3.1.	Application	22
	3.2.	Communications to be fair, clear and not misleading	22
	3.3.	Financial Promotions	24
	3.4.	Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions	28
	3.5.	Record keeping	30
4.	KEY	INFORMATION AND CLIENT AGREEMENT	32
	4.1.	Application	32
	4.2.	Client agreement	32
	4.3.	Content of client agreement	33
	4.4.	Content of key information	34
	4.5.	Record keeping	34
5.	SUI	TABILITY AND APPROPRIATENESS	35
	5.1.	Application	35
	5.2.	Suitability assessment	35
	5.3.	Appropriateness assessment	38

5.4.	Information about the Client	40
5.5.	Record keeping	40
6. OR	DER EXECUTION AND ORDER HANDLING	41
6.1.	Best execution	41
6.2.	Client order handling	42
6.3.	Voice and electronic communications	45
6.4.	Direct Electronic Access	46
7. CO I	NFLICTS OF INTEREST	47
7.1.	The general obligation	47
7.2.	Identifying a conflict of interest	47
7.3.	Managing a conflict of interest	47
7.4.	Inducements	48
7.5.	Personal Transactions	49
8. CLII	ENT ASSETS	51
8.1.	Application	51
8.2.	Client Money Rules	52
8.3.	Client Investments Rules	63
8.4.	Mandates	71
9. REF	PORTING TO CLIENTS	72
9.1.	Trade confirmations	72
9.2.	Periodic statements	72
10. INVESTMENT RESEARCH		
10.1.	Application	74
10.2.	Conflicts of interest	74
10.3.	Restrictions on transactions	74
10.4.	Physical separation	75
10.5.	Key information	75
10.6.	Disclosure of conflicts of interests	76
10.7.	Restrictions on publication during public offer	77
10.8.	Offers of securities	77
11. INSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES 79		
11.1.	Application	79

	11.2.	Disclosure requirements	79
	11.3.	Disclosure of costs and remuneration	80
	11.4.	Obligation on Client to disclose material facts	80
	11.5.	Statement of demands and needs	81
	11.6.	Information about Contract of Insurance	81
	11.7.	Other requirements	82
	11.8.	Client money: Insurance Intermediation	83
12. TRUST SERVICE PROVIDERS			89
	12.1.	Application	89
	12.2.	Obligations of the Trust Service Provider	89
	12.3.	Exercise of discretion	89
	12.4.	Delegation of duties or powers	89
	12.5.	Professional indemnity insurance	89
	12.6.	Internal reporting	90
	12.7.	Use of third parties	90
	12.8.	Qualification and experience	90
	12.9.	Books and records	90
	12.10.	Due diligence	90
	12.11.	Fitness and Propriety of Persons acting as trustees	91
13. ANCILLARY SERVICE PROVIDERS			92
	13.1.	Application	92
	13.2.	Principles for Ancillary Service Providers	92
14	. CRE	DIT RATING AGENCIES	94
	14.1.	Application	94
	14.2.	Principles for Credit Rating Agencies	94
15	. CON	IPLAINTS HANDLING AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	97
	15.1.	Application	97
	15.2.	Complaints handling	97
	15.3.	Referrals	99
	15.4.	Record keeping	100
16	. REC	ORD KEEPING	101
	16.1.	Record keeping requirements	101

16.2.	Table summarising record keeping requirements	101	
17. 18. Bar	ıks		
18.1.	<u>Application</u>		
18.2.	Accepting Deposits		
18.3.	<u>Terms of business for Accepting Deposits—general requirements</u>		
18.4.	<u>Terms of business for Accepting Deposits – contract</u>		
18.5.	Terms of business for Accepting Deposits —multiple documents		
18.6.	<u>Terms of business for Accepting Deposits – amendment</u>		
18.7.	<u>Terms of business for Accepting Deposits – recordkeeping</u>		
18.8.	<u>Terms of business for Accepting Deposits – minimum content</u>		
Schedule 1: TRANSACTION RECORDS 103			
Schedul	Schedule 2: KEY INFORMATION AND CONTENT OF CLIENT AGREEMENT 105		
Schedule 3: TRADE CONFIRMATION 108			
Schedule 4: PERIODIC STATEMENTS 110			
Schedul	Schedule 5: FINANCIAL PROMOTIONS 112		

Guidance: Purpose of this rulebook

The purpose of this rulebook, "COB", is to ensure that financial services firms operating in the AIFC meet the standards of conduct expected of such firms, particularly with regard to the treatment of their clients, but also in their dealings with counterparties and other market participants. COB also includes rules to ensure that the behaviour of firms operating in the AIFC contributes to fostering and maintaining the integrity of financial markets in the AIFC.

This will assist the AFSA to meet the regulatory objectives specified in the Financial Services Framework Regulations (the "Framework Regulations"), including the AFSA's objectives of:

- protecting the interests of investors and users of financial services;
- ensuring that the AIFC's financial markets are fair, efficient, transparent and orderly; and
- fostering and maintaining confidence in the AIFC's financial system and regulatory regime.

Chapter 1 (Application) states that the requirements in the COB rulebook generally apply to Authorised Firms licensed to carry on a Regulated Activity. Some requirements may be modified or disapplied altogether depending on the type of Authorised Firm involved, the nature of its activities, and/or the classification of the Client to whom the Authorised Firm provides services.

In particular, the majority of the COB rules do not apply to Insurance Intermediaries, Trust Service Providers, or Ancillary Service Providers, which are instead required to comply with the requirements set out in Chapters 11, 12 or 13 of COB respectively.

For the avoidance of doubt, COB does not apply to Representative Offices or Authorised Market Institutions.

Chapter 2 (Client classification) requires an Authorised Firm to classify each of its Clients as either a Retail Client, Professional Client, or Market Counterparty, depending on the Client's financial resources and knowledge and experience of Financial Services. The Authorised Firm must inform the Client of its classification. The purpose of this classification is to ensure that the COB rules are applied in a risk-sensitive manner in proportion to the risks faced by a Client and the level of protection which that Client requires. In particular, the COB rules seek to ensure that the Client receives an adequate level of protection based on its resources and understanding of the Financial Products and Financial Services involved. For example, a Retail Client is assumed to need more protection than a Market Counterparty, so an Authorised Firm dealing with a Retail Client will be required to comply with more stringent requirements in COB.

Chapter 3 (Communications with Clients and Financial Promotions) imposes a general duty on Authorised Firms to ensure that their communications with Clients are fair, clear and not misleading. In addition, there are specific requirements for the handling of Financial Promotions (that is, marketing materials directed at potential investors). This is to ensure the protection of Clients, including potential clients.

Chapter 4 (Key information and client agreement) provides the key information to be provided by Authorised Firms to their Clients, and the requirement to enter into a client agreement with their Clients. The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that Clients receive the information which they need in order to come to an informed decision about the Financial Products and Financial Services

being offered, and to ensure that there is a binding contract containing the rights and obligations of both parties.

Chapter 5 (Suitability and appropriateness) states that an Authorised Firm that is Advising on Investments or Managing Investments for a Client must assess whether the Financial Product or Financial Service being offered is "suitable" for that Client. If the Authorised Firm is Dealing in Investments or receiving and transmitting orders for a Client, the Authorised Person must assess whether the Financial Product or Financial Service is "appropriate" for the Client. The respective nature of assessments of suitability or appropriateness are described in detail in COB 5.

Chapter 6 (Order execution and order handling) sets out the obligation for an Authorised Firm, when executing an order on behalf of a Client, to obtain the best possible result for the Client. The Authorised Firm is required to handle orders according to a specified order allocation policy.

Chapter 7 (Conflicts of interest) builds on the requirement in GEN that an Authorised Firm must identify a conflict of interest between itself and a Client, or between one Client and another Client, and where appropriate manage such conflicts. COB 7 provides further detail on how such conflicts should be managed and disclosed to the Client. COB 7 is also intended to prevent a third party making payments or providing other benefits to an Authorised Firm in a way that may damage the Client's interests.

Chapter 8 (Client assets) is intended to ensure that, where an Authorised Firm holds or controls Money or Investments belonging to a Client, such Money or Investments will be protected in the event of that Authorised Firm's insolvency.

Chapter 9 (Reporting to clients) states the requirements on an Authorised Firm to report to the Client. COB 9 is intended to ensure that the Authorised Firm provides the Client with post-trade confirmation of the Client's purchases and sales of Investments as well as regular periodic statements on the value of the Investments held by the Authorised Firm on behalf of the Client.

Chapter 10 (Investment research) sets out requirements in relation to the production of investment research by an Authorised Firm. This is intended to prevent any conflict of interest from acting to the detriment of the Client.

Chapter 11 (Insurance intermediaries) deals with specific conduct of business rules that apply to insurance intermediaries.

Chapter 12 (Trust Service Providers) sets out the conduct of business requirements that apply to Trust Service Providers.

Chapter 13 (Ancillary Service Providers) sets out high-level principles that apply to Ancillary Service Providers.

Chapter 14 (Credit Rating Agencies) sets out high-level principles that apply to Credit Rating Agencies.

Chapter 15 (Complaints handling and dispute resolution) contains high-level requirements setting out how a Client may issue a complaint against an Authorised Firm and how this may be escalated in the event of a dispute.

Chapter 16 (Record keeping) sets out how records must be maintained by an Authorised Firm.

1. APPLICATION

1.1. General application rule

The requirements in COB apply to an Authorised Firm with respect to any Regulated Activity carried on by an Authorised Firm operating within the jurisdiction of the AIFC as specified in Part 1 of the Framework Regulations.

1.2. Modifications and exclusions

1.2.1. Modifications and exclusions stated in a COB rule

The general application rule in COB 1.1 may be modified or excluded to the extent stated in the relevant provision in COB, depending on the type of Authorised Firm involved, the nature of its activities, and/or the classification of the Client to whom it provides services.

1.2.2. Exclusions in relation to certain categories of Centre Participant

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements in COB do not apply to:

- (a) a Representative Office; or
- (b) an Authorised Market Institution, except for COB 3 (Communications with Clients and Financial Promotions).

Guidance: Other applicable requirements

Although the Centre Participants listed in COB 1.2.2 are not generally subject to the requirements in COB, they will be subject to requirements in other Rules, which may include but are not limited to requirements in REP, AMI and GEN as applicable.

1.2.3. Application in respect of Insurance Intermediaries

The requirements in COB do not apply to Insurance Intermediaries, with the exception of COB 3 (Communications with Clients and Financial Promotions), COB 4 (Key Information and Client Agreement), and COB 11 (Insurance Intermediaries).

Guidance: Insurance Intermediaries

Given the different nature of their activities compared with other Authorised Firms, Insurance Intermediaries are subject to specific conduct of business requirements that are set out in COB 11.

1.2.4. Application in respect of Trust Service Providers

The requirements in COB do not generally apply to Trust Service Providers, with the exception of COB 3 (Communications with Clients and Financial Promotions), COB 7 (Conflicts of Interest), COB 12 (Trust Service Providers), and COB 15 (Record Keeping).

Guidance: Trust Service Providers

Trust Service Providers provide services that are distinct from those provided by other Authorised Firms, so they are not required to comply with all of the COB rules. COB 12 imposes a specific framework on Trust Service Providers that takes into account the nature of their activities and the risk profile that they represent compared with other Authorised Firms.

1.2.5. Application in respect of Ancillary Service Providers

The requirements in COB do not apply to Ancillary Service Providers, with the exception of COB 13 (Ancillary Service Providers).

Guidance: Ancillary Service Providers

Ancillary Service Providers may already be subject to professional standards, regulation by professional bodies, and/or codes of conduct. As a result, they are not required to comply with most of the requirements in COB. Instead, they are subject to duties and obligations under COB 13, which sets out high-level principles applicable to these firms.

1.2.6. Application in respect of Credit Rating Agencies

The requirements in COB do not apply to Credit Rating Agencies, with the exception of COB 14 (Credit Rating Agencies).

Guidance: Credit Rating Agencies

In order to ensure that Credit Rating Agencies provide independent analyses and opinions, COB 14 requires Credit Rating Agencies to comply with high-level principles that are based on international standards promoted by the International Organisation of Securities Commissions.

1.2.7. Table summarising modifications and exclusions

The general application rule in COB 1.1 is modified or excluded to the extent stated in this table in COB 1.2.7 by reference to the category of Client receiving services from the Authorised Firm ("who?") and/or the nature of the activity ("what?").

COB 4.2.1(b) Requirement to enter into a client agreement 4.2.1(b) COB 5 Suitability and appropriateness COB 6 Order execution and order handling, except for COB 6.2.9 (see COB 6.1.1(a)) COB 11.2. 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7.3- 11.7.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:		
COB 3.4 Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions COB		
COB 4.2.1(b) Requirement to enter into a client agreement 4.2.1(b) COB 5 Suitability and appropriateness COB 6 Order execution and order handling, except for COB 6.2.9 (see COB 6.1.1(a)) COB 11.2. 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7.3- 11.7.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	A: The follow	ving provisions do not apply in respect of Market Counterparty Business:
4.2.1(b) COB 5 Suitability and appropriateness COB 6 Order execution and order handling, except for COB 6.2.9 (see COB 6.1.1(a)) COB 11.2. Insurance Intermediaries (see COB 11.1.2) 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB 4.2.1(a) Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 3.4	Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions
COB 6 Order execution and order handling, except for COB 6.2.9 (see COB 6.1.1(a)) COB 11.2. Insurance Intermediaries (see COB 11.1.2) 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.7.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 4.2.1(b)	Requirement to enter into a client agreement
6.1.1(a)) COB 11.2. Insurance Intermediaries (see COB 11.1.2) 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7.3- 11.7.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 5	Suitability and appropriateness
11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7.3- 11.7.6 COB 15 Complaints handling and dispute resolution B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	СОВ 6	
B: The following provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business: COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 11.2. 11.3.2, 11.3.3, 11.4, 11.5, 11.6, 11.7.3- 11.7.6	Insurance Intermediaries (see COB 11.1.2)
COB 3.3 Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a)) COB Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) 4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 15	Complaints handling and dispute resolution
COB 4.2.1(a) Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	B: The follow	ving provisions are modified in respect of Market Counterparty Business:
4.2.1(a) COB 8.2 Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2) COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 3.3	Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a))
COB 9.1 Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4) C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 4.2.1(a)	Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4)
C: The following provisions do not apply in respect of business carried on with Professional Clients:	COB 8.2	Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2)
Professional Clients:	COB 9.1	Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4)
COB 3.4 Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions		
	COB 3.4	Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions

COB 4.2.1(b)	Requirement to enter into a written client agreement	
COB 11.2.2, 11.5.2, 11.6.2	Insurance Intermediaries (see COB 11.1.2)	
D: The follow Professional	ing provisions are modified in respect of business carried on with Clients:	
COB 3.3	Financial Promotions (see COB 3.3.3(a))	
COB 4.2.1(a)	Requirement to provide key information (see COB 4.4)	
COB 5.2.2	Nature of suitability assessment (see COB 5.2.7)	
COB 5.3.4	Nature of appropriateness assessment (see COB 5.3.6)	
COB 8.2	Client Money Rules (see COB 8.2.2)	
COB 9.1	Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations (see COB 9.1.4)	
	? Modifications and exclusions from the general application rule the nature of the activity	
A: The following provisions do not apply in respect of an Authorised Firm carrying out the Regulated Activity of providing financing using Shari'ah-compliant contracts		
COB 4	Key Information and Client Agreement	
	ing provisions do not apply in respect of a Fund Manager offering the und it manages	
COB 4	Key Information and Client Agreement	
	ing provisions do not apply in respect of an Authorised Firm that ransaction in the course of Managing Investments for a Client	
COB 9.1	Reporting to clients: Trade confirmations	
		

2. CLIENT CLASSIFICATION

2.1. General requirements

2.1.1. Obligation to classify Clients

An Authorised Firm providing any Financial Products or Financial Services to any Person must classify that Person as one of the following categories of Client:

- (a) a Retail Client;
- (b) a Professional Client; or
- (c) a Market Counterparty.

2.1.2. Obligation to notify classification to Clients

An Authorised Firm must notify a new Client of its classification as a Retail Client, Professional Client, or Market Counterparty in accordance with COB 2.1.1 in respect of the Financial Product or Financial Service being provided to that Client.

2.1.3. Person may be classified as more than one category of Client

An Authorised Firm may classify a Person as belonging to different categories of Client in respect of:

- (a) a specific Financial Product, Financial Service, or Transaction; or
- (b) different types of Financial Product or Transaction,

which are to be provided to, or carried out on behalf of, that Person.

2.2. Retail Clients

2.2.1. Classification as a Retail Client

An Authorised Firm must classify as a Retail Client any Client that is not a Professional Client or a Market Counterparty.

2.2.2. Authorised Firm may choose to treat any Person as a Retail Client

An Authorised Firm may choose to provide Financial Products or Financial Services to any Person as a Retail Client simply by classifying that Person as a Retail Client. If the Authorised Firm classifies the Person as a Retail Client in this way, it will not be required to assess whether that Person would otherwise be classified as a Professional Client or a Market Counterparty.

2.3. Professional Clients

2.3.1. Classification as a Professional Client

An Authorised Firm may classify a Person as a Professional Client if that Person:

- (a) meets the requirements to be a Deemed Professional Client; or
- (b) meets the requirements to be an Assessed Professional Client, in accordance with COB 2.5.1 or 2.5.5, provided that Person has not been classified as a Retail Client in accordance with COB 2.6.

2.4. Deemed Professional Clients

2.4.1. Requirements to be a Deemed Professional Client

For the purposes of COB 2.3.1, each of the following entities is a Deemed Professional Client unless it is a Market Counterparty or is given a different classification under COB 2:

2.4.2. Large Undertakings

A Person is a Large Undertaking for the purposes of COB 2.4.1(j) if it met, as at the date of its most recent financial statements, at least two of the following requirements:

- (a) it has total assets of at least USD 20 million on its balance sheet;
- (b) it has a net annual turnover of at least USD 40 million; or
- (c) it has own funds of at least USD 2 million.

2.5. Assessed Professional Clients

2.5.1. Assessed Professional Clients: Individual Clients

For the purposes of COB 2.3.1, an Authorised Firm may treat an individual Client as an Assessed Professional Client if:

- (a) the Client has net assets of at least USD 1 million; and
- (b) either:
 - (i) the Authorised Firm assesses the Client, on reasonable grounds, to have sufficient experience and understanding of relevant Financial Products, Financial Services, Transactions and any associated risks; or
 - (ii) the Client works or has worked in the previous two years in an Authorised Firm or any other authorised or regulated financial institution, including a bank, securities firm or insurance company, in a position that requires knowledge of the type of Financial Products, Financial Services or Transactions envisaged; and
- (c) the following procedure is followed:
 - (i) the Client must confirm in writing to the Authorised Firm that it wishes to be treated as a Professional Client either:
 - (1) generally;
 - (2) in respect of a specific Financial Product, Financial Service, or Transaction; or
 - (3) in respect of a type of Financial Product, Financial Service, or Transaction;
 - (ii) the Authorised Firm must give the Client a clear warning in writing setting out the protections that the Client may lose as a result of giving up its classification as a Retail Client; and
 - (iii) the Client must confirm in writing, in a separate document from the client agreement or other contract, that it is aware of the consequences of losing such protections.

Guidance: Meaning of an "individual"

For the purposes of COB 2.5.1, an "individual" means a Person who is a natural person and not an Undertaking.

2.5.2. Calculation of an individual's net assets

For the purposes of COB 2.5.1(a), the calculation of an individual Client's net assets:

- (a) must exclude the value of the primary residence of the Client; and
- (b) may include any assets held directly or indirectly by the Client.

2.5.3. Assessment of experience and understanding

For the purposes of the assessment required under COB 2.5.1(b)(i) and 2.5.6(a), an Authorised Firm must, where applicable, consider the following matters:

- (a) the Person's knowledge and understanding of:
 - (i) the relevant Financial Products, Financial Services, and Transactions; and
 - (ii) any associated risks, either generally or in relation to a specific Financial Product, Financial Service, or Transaction;
- (b) the length of time during which the Person has participated in financial market activity;
- (c) the frequency with which the Person has carried out Transactions;
- (d) the extent to which the Person has previously relied on professional financial advice;
- (e) the size and nature of Transactions that have been undertaken by, or on behalf of, the Person in financial markets;
- (f) the Person's relevant qualifications or training;
- (g) the composition and size of the Person's portfolio of Investments;
- (h) in the case of insurance Transactions, relevant experience in relation to similar Transactions to be able to understand the risks associated with such Transactions; and
- (i) any other matters which the Authorised Firm considers relevant.

2.5.4. Legal structures or vehicles containing an individual's investment portfolio

An Authorised Firm may classify as an Assessed Professional Client a legal structure or vehicle, including an Undertaking, trust or foundation, that is set up solely for the purpose of

managing the investment portfolio of an individual where that individual has been assessed as meeting the requirements in COB 2.5.1.

2.5.5. Individual joint account holders

An Authorised Firm may classify as a Professional Client an individual (the "joint account holder") who has a joint account with an individual assessed as meeting the requirements in COB 2.5.1 (the "primary account holder") if:

- (a) the joint account holder is a Family Member of the primary account holder;
- (b) the account is used for the purposes of managing Investments for the primary account holder and the joint account holder;
- (c) the following procedure is followed:
 - (i) the joint account holder must confirm in writing to the Authorised Firm that investment decisions relating to the joint account are generally made for, or on behalf of, him by the primary account holder;
 - (ii) the joint account holder must confirm in writing to the Authorised Firm that he wishes to be treated as a Professional Client either:
 - (1) generally;
 - (2) in respect of a specific Financial Product, Financial Service or Transaction; or
 - (3) in respect of a type of Financial Product or Transaction;
 - (ii) the Authorised Firm must give the joint account holder a clear warning in writing setting out the protections that the joint account holder may lose as a result of giving up his classification as a Retail Client; and
 - (iii) the joint account holder must confirm in writing, in a separate document from the client agreement or other contract, that he is aware of the consequences of losing such protections.

2.5.6. Assessed Professional Clients: Undertakings

For the purposes of COB 2.3.1, an Authorised Firm may treat an Undertaking as an Assessed Professional Client if:

- (a) the Authorised Firm assesses the Undertaking (which may involve assessing an individual or individuals authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the Undertaking), on reasonable grounds, to have sufficient experience and understanding of the relevant Financial Products, Financial Services or Transactions and any associated risks; and
- (b) the Undertaking has own funds of at least USD 1 million.

2.5.7. Other types of Undertaking

An Authorised Firm may also classify an Undertaking as an Assessed Professional Client if the Undertaking has:

- (a) a Controller;
- (b) a Holding Company;
- (c) a Subsidiary (whether direct or indirect); or
- (d) a joint venture partner,

that meets the requirements in COB 2.5.6 to be classified as an Assessed Professional Client.

2.5.8. Client no longer meeting the requirements to be a Professional Client

If an Authorised Firm becomes aware that a Client no longer meets the requirements to be classified as a Professional Client, the Authorised Firm must, as soon as possible, inform the Client that this is the case and, where appropriate, discuss with the Client the steps that the Authorised Firm and the Client may take to address the situation, which may include the Authorised Firm notifying the Client of its reclassification.

2.6. Reclassification of a Professional Client as a Retail Client

2.6.1. Obligation to notify Professional Client of right to be treated as a Retail Client

If an Authorised Firm provides services to Retail Clients and Professional Clients, it must, when first establishing a relationship with a Person as a Professional Client, notify that Person in writing of:

- (a) that Person's right to be classified as a Retail Client;
- (b) the higher level of protection available to Retail Clients; and

(c) the period of time within which the Person may choose to be classified as a Retail Client.

If the Person does not choose to be classified as a Retail Client within the time specified by the Authorised Firm, the Authorised Firm may classify that Person as a Professional Client.

2.6.2. Authorised Firm not providing services to Retail Clients

If an Authorised Firm does not provide services to Retail Clients, it must inform its Clients of this fact and any relevant consequences.

2.6.3. Professional Client that asks to be treated as a Retail Client

If a Professional Client makes a request to the Authorised Firm to be treated as a Retail Client, the Authorised Firm must classify it as a Retail Client, unless the Authorised Firm does not provide services to Retail Clients.

Guidance: Request to an Authorised Firm that does not provide services to Retail Clients

An Authorised Firm that does not provide services to Retail Clients may receive a request from a Professional Client asking to be classified as a Retail Client. If the nature of the Client or the level of protection that it requires are such that it no longer meets the requirements to be a Professional Client, then the Authorised Firm should cease providing services to that Client.

2.7. Market Counterparties

2.7.1. Classification as a Market Counterparty

An Authorised Firm may classify a Person as a Market Counterparty, unless and to the extent that Person is given a different classification under this chapter COB 2, if that Person meets the requirements to be:

- (a) a Deemed Professional Client; or
- (b) an Assessed Professional Client and is the subsidiary of a Holding Company that is a Deemed Professional Client by virtue of being a Large Undertaking falling within COB 2.4.1(j),

provided that the arrangement meets the conditions in COB 2.7.2.

2.7.2. Requirement for confirmation by the Client

In order for an Authorised Firm to classify a Person as a Market Counterparty, the Authorised

Firm must ensure that:

- (a) the Person has been given prior written notification of its classification as a Market Counterparty; and
- (b) the Person has not requested to be classified other than as a Market Counterparty within the time specified in the notification.

2.8. Trusts and Funds

2.8.1. Trusts

If an Authorised Firm intends to provide Financial Products or Financial Services to a trust, it must, unless otherwise provided in COB, treat the trustee of the trust, and not the beneficiaries of the trust, as its Client.

2.8.2. Funds

If an Authorised Firm provides a Financial Product or Financial Service to a Fund that does not have a separate legal personality, that Fund will be the Client of the Authorised Firm.

2.9. Agent as Client

2.9.1. General application of the "agent as client" rule

Subject to COB 2.9.2, if an Authorised Firm is aware that a Person (the "agent"), with or for whom it is intending to provide a service is acting as an agent for another Person (the "underlying client") in relation to that service, then the Authorised Firm must treat the agent as its Client in respect of the service.

2.9.2. Exclusion from the "agent as client" rule

The underlying client is treated, for the purposes of these Rules, as the Client of the Authorised Firm in respect of the service, if:

- (a) the Authorised Firm has agreed with the agent in writing to treat the underlying client as its Client; or
- (b) the agent is neither:
 - (1) another Authorised Firm; or
 - (2) an Authorised Market Institution,

and the main purpose of the arrangements between the parties is the avoidance of duties that the Authorised Firm would otherwise have to the underlying client.

2.9.3. Agreement in relation to more than one underlying client

If an Authorised Firm makes an agreement with the agent under COB 2.9.2(a) in relation to more than one underlying client, the Authorised Firm may rely upon the agent to act as a single point of contact for all communications between the Authorised Firm and all of the underlying clients for which the agent is acting. Accordingly, where the Authorised Firm communicates with the underlying clients, the Authorised Firm may send to, or receive from, the agent a single communication covering all of the underlying clients, without having to notify or obtain consent from each underlying client. However, where the Authorised Firm is required to provide any communications to any single underlying client, relating to matters specific to that underlying client, the Authorised Firm will still be required to provide to the agent the information specific to that underlying client, including the following:

- (a) any risk warnings required by COB;
- (b) trade confirmations for the purposes of COB 9; and
- (c) periodic statements for the purposes of COB 9.

2.10. Record keeping

2.10.1. Requirement to keep records

An Authorised Firm must keep records of:

- (a) the procedures which it has followed under COB 2, including any documents that evidence the Client's classification; and
- (b) any notification sent to the Client under COB 2, together with evidence of despatch.

2.10.2. Length of recordkeeping requirement

The records in COB 2.10.1 must be kept for at least six years from the date on which the business relationship with a Client ended.

2.10.3. Date on which the business relationship ended

For the purposes of COB 2.10.2, an Authorised Firm may, if the date on which the business relationship with the Client ended is unclear, treat the date of the completion of the last

transaction with the Client as the date on which the business relationship ended.

2.10.4. Obligation to provide access to the AFSA

An Authorised Firm must ensure that the AFSA has access to all of the records required under COB 2.10.1, including any records maintained by or at its head office or any other branch of the same legal entity, or a member of its Group. An Authorised Firm must notify the AFSA immediately if, for any reason, it is no longer able to provide access to these records.

3. COMMUNICATIONS WITH CLIENTS AND FINANCIAL PROMOTIONS

3.1. Application

3.1.1. General requirement

COB 3 applies to:

- (a) an Authorised Firm communicating with a Client in relation to a Regulated Activity; and/or
- (b) an Authorised Firm communicating or approving a Financial Promotion.

3.1.2. Territorial scope

This chapter COB 3 applies to:

- (a) any communications of an Authorised Firm to a Client; and/or
- (b) any Financial Promotions communicated or approved by an Authorised Firm,

in relation to a Regulated Activity carried on by an Authorised Firm operating within the jurisdiction of the AIFC as specified in Part 1 of the Framework Regulations.

3.2. Communications to be fair, clear and not misleading

3.2.1. General requirement

An Authorised Firm must ensure that:

- (a) any communication with a Client in relation to a Financial Product or Financial Service; or
- (b) any Financial Promotion that it communicates or approves,

is fair, clear and not misleading.

3.2.2. No avoidance of regulatory liability

Any communication by an Authorised Firm with a Client, or any Financial Promotion that it communicates or approves, must not attempt to limit or avoid any duty or liability it may have to that Client or any other Person under any applicable AIFC Rules or Regulations.

3.2.3. Information to be communicated directly to Client

Where a Rule in COB requires information to be provided to a Client, the Authorised Firm must provide that information directly to the Client and not to another Person, unless it is on the written instructions of the Client.

Guidance: Meaning of "communication"

For the purposes of COB 3, a communication includes, but is not limited to, a Financial Promotion, a client agreement, terms of business, Financial Product terms and conditions, a mandate, power of attorney entered into for the purposes of a Financial Product or Financial Service and any other communication which relates in whole or in part to the provision of a Financial Product or Financial Service.

3.3. Financial Promotions

3.3.1. Prohibition on Financial Promotions

A Person must not make a Financial Promotion in relation to a Regulated Activity carried on an Authorised Firm licensed by the AFSA unless:

- (a) the Person is an Authorised Firm;
- (b) the content of the Financial Promotion is approved by an Authorised Firm; or
- (c) the Financial Promotion is exempt under COB 3.3.3.

Persons who make a Financial Promotion falling within (a), (b) or (c) above shall be "Authorised Promoters" for the purposes of this COB 3.

3.3.2. Financial Promotion by a Representative Office

A Representative Office may make a Financial Promotion only in relation to a Financial Product or Financial Service offered both:

- (a) in a jurisdiction other than the AIFC; and
- (b) by a related party of the Representative Office.

3.3.3. Exempt Financial Promotions

For the purposes of COB 3.3.1(c), a communication is an exempt Financial Promotion if it is:

- (a) directed at and capable of acceptance exclusively by a Person who is believed by the Person making the Financial Promotion, on reasonable grounds, to be a Professional Client or Market Counterparty;
- (b) made to a Person as a result of an unsolicited request by that Person to receive the Financial Promotion;
- (c) made or issued by or on behalf of a government or non-commercial government entity, including a central bank;
- (d) made by a Person in the course of providing legal or accountancy services and may reasonably be regarded as incidental to and a necessary part of the provision of such services;
- (e) included in a Prospectus approved by the AFSA in accordance with MAR; or
- (f) included in any document required or permitted to be published under the Listing Rules.

3.3.4. Other exclusions from the Financial Promotions Prohibition

A Person does not breach the Financial Promotions Prohibition if:

- (a) the Person acts as a mere conduit for the making of the Financial Promotion, such as:
 - (i) a newspaper or magazine;
 - (ii) a website carrying third-party banner advertisements;
 - (iii) a postman or courier;
 - (iv) a person paid to hand out promotional material to the public and an event venue,

unless in each case that Person created the Financial Promotion; or

(b) the Financial Promotion is not made for a commercial or business purpose.

3.3.5. Content of a Financial Promotion

An Authorised Promoter must ensure that any Financial Promotion that it communicates or approves contains the information in Schedule 5.

3.3.6. Financial Promotions included in other communications

If an Authorised Promoter communicates information to a Client (whether in a document required by these Rules or otherwise), the Person must not include or embed a Financial Promotion in the communication in a way that obscures:

- (a) the objectives or purpose of the communication; or
- (b) the nature or purpose of the Financial Promotion.

3.3.7. Withdrawal of a financial promotion

If an Authorised Promoter becomes aware that a Financial Promotion that it has previously communicated or approved does not comply or no longer complies with this Rule, it must ensure that the Financial Promotion is withdrawn as soon as practicable by either:

- (a) ceasing to make the Financial Promotion and telling any other Person known to be relying on it that the promotion is withdrawn; or
- (b) withdrawing its approval and telling any Person known to be relying on it that the promotion is withdrawn.

3.3.8. Restriction on communicating Financial Promotions

An Authorised Promoter that communicates or approves a Financial Promotion must ensure that:

- (a) the Financial Promotion complies with any applicable AIFC laws, Rules or Regulations;
- (b) any material statements of fact in the Financial Promotion are accurate and up to date;
- (c) it does not distribute a Financial Promotion if it becomes aware that the Financial Product or Financial Service that is the subject of the Financial Promotion is in breach of legal or regulatory requirements;
- (d) any Financial Promotion intended for Professional Clients and/or Market Counterparties is not communicated to any persons who are not Professional Clients and/or Market Counterparties, as appropriate;
- (e) no person communicates or otherwise uses the Financial Promotion on behalf of the Authorised Firm in a manner that amounts to a breach of the requirements in this

Rule; and

(f) the Financial Promotion does not mention an approval or authorisation of the AFSA that has not been given in writing by the AFSA.

3.3.9. Financial promotions for Retail Clients

Before an Authorised Promoter makes or approves a Financial Promotion directed at Retail Clients, it must ensure that the Financial Promotion:

- (a) is accurate and does not emphasise any potential benefits of a specified Financial Product without also giving a fair and prominent indication of any relevant risks;
- (b) is sufficient for the needs of, and presented in a way that is likely to be understood by, the average member of the group to whom it is addressed or by whom it is likely to be received; and
- (c) does not disguise, diminish or obscure important items, statements or warnings.

3.3.10. Comparisons and contrasts

If an Authorised Promoter makes or approves a Financial Promotion that contains a comparison or contrast, it must ensure that:

- (a) the comparison is meaningful and presented in an objective and balanced way;
- (b) the sources of the information used for the comparison are stated; and
- (c) the key facts and assumptions used to make the comparison are included.

3.3.11. Past performance and forecasts

An Authorised Promoter must ensure that any information or representation in a Financial Promotion relating to past performance, or any future forecast based on past performance or other assumptions, which is provided to or targeted at Retail Clients:

- (a) presents a fair and balanced view of the Financial Products or Financial Services to which the information or representation relates;
- (b) identifies, in an easy to understand manner, the source of information from which the past performance is derived and any key facts and assumptions used in that context are drawn; and

(c)	contains a prominent warning that past performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of future results.

3.4. Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions

3.4.1. Application

COB 3.4 applies to an Authorised Promoter in relation to the communication to a Retail Client of an Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion.

Guidance: Non-application to Professional Clients and Market Counterparties

The restrictions on Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion in COB 3.4 do not apply to Professional Clients or Market Counterparties because it is expected that these categories of Client are better able to assess the risks of a Financial Product or Financial Service, including when engaging in interactive dialogue with a representative of an Authorised Firm.

3.4.2. Meaning of an Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion

A Financial Promotion is considered to be an Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion if it is made by way of interactive dialogue:

- (a) which:
 - (i) was not initiated by the recipient of the Financial Promotion; and
 - (ii) does not take place in response to an express request from the recipient of the Financial Promotion; or
- (b) in relation to which it was not clear from all the circumstances when the dialogue was initiated or requested, that during the course of the dialogue, communications would be made concerning the kind of controlled activities and controlled investments to which the communications in fact made relate.

Guidance: Examples of Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions

A Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion would normally be expected to involve or require an immediate response from the recipient, such as a personal visit, interactive voice communication (including a telephone conversation), or other interactive dialogue. Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions are considered to present higher risks to Retail Clients and therefore require additional safeguards compared with solicited and/or non-real time Financial Promotions.

Non-real time Financial Promotions include a letter, email, publication, website, television advertisement, or radio broadcast, which generally lack the interactive element and immediacy of a real time Financial Promotion.

3.4.3. No express request for a real time Financial Promotion

For these purposes, a Person is not to be treated as expressly requesting a real time Financial Promotion:

- (a) because he omits to indicate that he does not wish to engage in any or any further dialogue; or
- (b) because he agrees to standard terms that state that such dialogue will take place, unless he has signified clearly that, in addition to agreeing to the terms, he is willing for them to take place.

If the dialogue is initiated or requested by a recipient (R), it is treated as also having been initiated or requested by any other person to whom it is made at the same time as it is made to R if that other recipient is a Family Member of R or expected to engage in any investment activity jointly with R.

3.4.4. Exemption for image advertising

COB 3.4 does not apply if the Financial Promotion consists only of:

- (a) the name of the Authorised Promoter;
- (b) a logo or other image associated with the Authorised Promoter;
- (c) a contact point; and
- (d) a reference to the types of Financial Product or Financial Service provided by the Authorised Promoter, or to its fees.

3.4.5. Restriction on Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions

An Authorised Promoter must not make an Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion unless the recipient is an existing Client of the Authorised Promoter and the relationship is such that the Authorised Promoter reasonably believes that:

- (a) the recipient understands the risks associated with the relevant Investment; and
- (b) the recipient would expect to be contacted by the Authorised Promoter for the purpose of communicating Financial Promotions in real time; and

3.4.6. Restriction on nature of Investments

An Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion must only relate to an Investment that is:

- (a) a government Security; or
- (b) a listed Security that is regularly traded on an Authorised Investment Exchange or other authorised and regulated exchange,

except that it is not permitted to communicate a Financial Promotion in real time in relation to Warrants or any Security that embeds a derivative.

3.4.7. Procedure for Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotions

An Authorised Promoter must not communicate an Unsolicited Real Time Financial Promotion to a Client who is not at the Authorised Promoter's premises, unless the Person communicating it:

- (a) only does so at an appropriate time of the day;
- (b) identifies himself and the firm he represents at the outset and makes clear the purpose of the communication;
- (c) clarifies if the Client would like to continue with or terminate the communication, and terminates the communication at any time that the Client requests it; and
- (d) gives a contact point to any Client with whom he arranges an appointment.

3.5. Record keeping

3.5.1. Record keeping requirement

An Authorised Promoter must keep a record of each Financial Promotion that it makes or approves.

3.5.2. Content of records

The record must include at least the following detail:

- (a) the name of the senior Employee who reviewed the Financial Promotion;
- (b) the date the Financial Promotion was made or approved;

- (c) if the Financial Promotion was in writing, a copy of the Financial Promotion; and
- (d) if the Financial Promotion was not in writing, details of the Financial Promotion and its outcome, including a note stating if the Client requested the termination of a real time Financial Promotion.

The Authorised Promoter must keep the records for at least 6 years after the Financial Promotion is no longer made.

4. KEY INFORMATION AND CLIENT AGREEMENT

4.1. Application

This chapter applies to an Authorised Firm intending to carry out Regulated Activities with or for a Client.

The obligation in this section to enter into a written client agreement does not apply to an Authorised Firm when it is carrying on a Regulated Activity with or for a Professional Client or Market Counterparty, but the Authorised Firm must still provide specified key information to a Professional Client or Market Counterparty, in accordance with this chapter, before providing services.

This chapter does not apply to an Authorised Firm when it is:

- (a) carrying out the Regulated Activity of providing financing using Shari'ah- compliant Financial Contracts; or
- (b) a Fund Manager offering the Units of a Fund it manages.

Guidance: Other information requirements

Other information requirements will apply to the provision of Shari'ah-compliant Financial Contracts, which are in the AIFC IFR Rules. Similarly, specific disclosure requirements apply to the Offering Materials provided in relation to Units in a Fund, as set out in the AIFC CIS Rules.

4.2. Client agreement

4.2.1. Requirement to enter into a client agreement

Subject to COB 4.2.3, an Authorised Firm must not carry on a Regulated Activity with or for a Person unless:

- (a) the Authorised Firm has provided to that Person the key information specified in Schedule 2 in good time before the service is provided to enable the Person to make an informed decision relating to the relevant Regulated Activity; and
- (b) if the Person is classified as a Retail Client, there is a written client agreement entered into between the Authorised Firm and that Person.

Guidance: Meaning of "key information"

In this COB 4.2, "key information" means the information specified in Schedule 2.

4.2.2. Relationship between key information and client agreement

An Authorised Firm may either:

- (a) provide a person with a copy of the proposed client agreement containing the key information; or
- (b) provide the key information separately from the client agreement.

4.2.3. Where it is impracticable to provide key information or enter into a client agreement

An Authorised Firm may provide a Financial Product or Financial Service to a Retail Client or Professional Client without having to provide key information and/or enter into a client agreement in accordance with COB 4.2.1 where it is impracticable to do so, provided that the Authorised Firm:

- (a) first explains to the Client why it is impracticable to enter into a client agreement; and
- (b) enters into a client agreement as soon as practicable thereafter.

Guidance: Example of where it may be impracticable

It may be impracticable to provide the key information or enter into a client agreement if a Client requests the Authorised Firm to execute a transaction on a time-critical basis.

4.2.4. Records of explanation to the Client

Where an Authorised Firm has given the explanation referred to in COB 4.2.3(a) verbally, it should maintain sufficient records to enable the Authorised Firm to demonstrate to the AFSA that it has provided that explanation to the Client.

4.3. Content of client agreement

If the Authorised Firm is required to enter into a written client agreement with the Client, the agreement must set out the essential rights and obligations of both parties.

4.4. Content of key information

Schedule 2 sets out:

(a) the core key information that must be included in every client agreement, or otherwise provided to a Client in accordance with COB 4.2.2 (and specifies that, more

information is to be disclosed to Retail Clients than to Professional Clients or Market Counterparties); and

(c) additional key information that must be included in any client agreement or otherwise provided to a Client in relation to certain activities.

4.5. Record keeping

The Authorised Firm should retain a copy of the client agreement for a period of six years from the date on which the relationship with the relevant Client has terminated.

5. SUITABILITY AND APPROPRIATENESS

5.1. Application

5.1.1. Application of requirement to assess suitability

COB 5.2 applies where an Authorised Firm:

- (a) Advises on Investments; or
- (b) Manages Investments.

5.1.2. Application of requirement to assess appropriateness

COB 5.3 applies where an Authorised Firm is:

- (a) Dealing in Investments as Principal;
- (b) Dealing in Investments as Agent, or
- (c) receiving and transmitting orders for a Client,

and is not Advising on Investments or Managing Investments.

Guidance: Receiving and transmitting orders

An Authorised Firm carries on this activity of "receiving and transmitting orders" if it both receives an order from a Client for a transaction in an Investment and transmits it to another party, such as a broker, for execution or for onward transmission to the executing broker or venue.

5.1.3. Market Counterparties

COB 5 does not apply where the Authorised Firm provides a Financial Service to a Market Counterparty.

5.2. Suitability assessment

5.2.1. Requirement to assess suitability

When Advising on Investments or Managing Investments for a Client, an Authorised Firm must take reasonable steps to ensure that any recommendation or decision to trade on behalf of a Client is suitable for the Client.

5.2.2. Nature of suitability assessment

When making its recommendation or decision to trade on behalf of a Client, the Authorised Firm must assess the Client's:

- (a) investment objectives;
- (b) financial situation; and
- (c) knowledge and experience in relation to the type of Investment or Investment Service concerned,

so as to ensure that the recommendation or decision to trade is suitable for that particular Client.

5.2.3. Investment objectives

The Authorised Firm must assess the Client's investment objectives by, where appropriate, considering the length of time for which the Client intends to hold Investments, and taking into account the Client's risk profile and tolerance for risk, and the purpose of the relevant Investment.

5.2.4. Financial situation

The Authorised Firm must assess the Client's financial situation by, where appropriate, requesting information on the source and extent of the Client's income, assets, Investments, Real Property, and any regular financial commitments or liabilities.

5.2.5. Knowledge and experience

The Authorised Firm must consider the Client's knowledge and experience by taking into account, to the extent appropriate for the circumstances:

- (a) the types of Investment, Investment Service and Transaction with which the Client is familiar;
- (b) the nature, volume, and frequency of the Client's Transactions in Investments and the period over which they have been carried out;
- (c) the level of education, and profession or relevant former profession of the Client; and
- (d) the Client's knowledge and understanding of any associated risks.

5.2.6. Insufficient information

If an Authorised Firm does not obtain sufficient information to assess suitability for the purposes of COB 5.2.2, the Authorised Firm must not recommend an Investment or Investment Service, or make a decision to trade.

5.2.7. Professional Clients

An Authorised Firm may assume, when making a recommendation, or decision to trade, for or on behalf of a Professional Client, that:

- (a) the Client has the necessary knowledge and experience for the purposes of COB 5.2.2(c); and
- (b) if the Client is a Deemed Professional Client, the Client has an adequate financial situation and the necessary knowledge and experience for the purposes of COB 5.2.2(b) and (c).

5.2.8. Firms providing trust services

An Authorised Firm Providing Trust Services does not have to assess the Client's knowledge and experience or risk tolerance when assessing the suitability of the service to a particular Client, because these considerations are not considered to be relevant to the Regulated Activity of Providing Trust Services.

5.2.9. Suitability reports

When Advising on Investments for a Retail Client, an Authorised Firm must provide the Client with a suitability report that must include:

- (a) an outline of the advice given;
- (b) an explanation of why the recommendation is suitable, including how it meets the client's objectives and personal circumstances; and
- (c) a statement bringing to the client's attention the need for periodic review of suitability (where relevant).

5.3. Appropriateness assessment

5.3.1. Requirement to assess appropriateness

When Dealing in Investments as Principal, Dealing in Investments as Agent, or receiving and transmitting orders for a Client, an Authorised Firm must ask for information about the Client's knowledge and experience in relation to the type of Investment or Investment Service concerned to assess whether the Investment or Investment Service are appropriate for that Client.

Guidance: Client engaged in a course of dealings

If a Client engages in a course of dealings involving a specific type of Investment or Investment Service through the services of an Authorised Firm, the Authorised Firm is not required to make a new assessment on the occasion of each separate Transaction. An Authorised Firm complies with COB 5.3 provided that it makes the necessary appropriateness assessment before providing the relevant service.

5.3.2. Exemption from requirement to assess appropriateness

An Authorised Firm is not required to assess appropriateness if:

- (a) the service provided to the Client:
 - (i) only consists of the execution and/or the reception and transmission of orders;
 - (ii) relates to the Investments specified in COB 5.3.3 below; and
 - (iii) is provided at the initiative of the Client;
- (b) the Client has been clearly informed that in the provision of this service the Authorised Firm is not required to assess the appropriateness of the Investment or Investment Service provided or offered and that therefore he does not benefit from the protection of the rules on assessing appropriateness; and
- (c) the Authorised Firm complies with its obligations in relation to conflicts of interest.

5.3.3. Exempt Investments for the purposes of COB 5.3.2

The Investments that are exempted in accordance with COB 5.3.2(a)(ii) are:

- (a) Shares admitted to trading on a Authorised Investment Exchange or other authorised and regulated exchange; or
- (b) bonds or other forms of securitised debt (excluding those bonds or securitised debt that embed a Derivative); or
- (c) other non-complex Investments.

Guidance: Non-complex Investments

An Investment is non-complex if it satisfies the following criteria:

- (a) it is not a Derivative or a Security giving the right to acquire or sell a transferable security or giving rise to a cash settlement determined by reference to transferable Securities, currencies, interest rates or yields, commodities or other indices or measures;
- (b) there are frequent opportunities to dispose of, redeem, or otherwise realise the Investment at prices that are publicly available to the market participants and that are either market prices or prices made available, or validated, by valuation systems independent of the issuer;
- (c) it does not involve any actual or potential liability for the client that exceeds the cost of acquiring the Investment; and
- (d) adequately comprehensive information on its characteristics is publicly available and is likely to be readily understood so as to enable the average Retail Client to make an informed judgment as to whether to enter into a Transaction in that Investment.

5.3.4. Nature of appropriateness assessment

The Authorised Firm must assess whether the Client has the necessary knowledge and experience in order to understand the risks involved in relation to the relevant Investment or Investment Service.

5.3.5. Client's knowledge and experience

When assessing the appropriateness of the Investment or Investment Service for the Client, the Authorised Firm must consider the Client's knowledge and experience by taking into account, to the extent appropriate for the circumstances:

- (a) the types of Investment Service, Investment and Transaction with which the Client is familiar;
- (b) the nature, volume, and frequency of the Client's Transactions in Investments and the period over which they have been carried out;

- (c) the level of education, and profession or relevant former profession of the Client; and
- (d) the Client's knowledge and understanding of any associated risks.

5.3.6. Professional Clients

An Authorised Firm may assume that a Professional Client has the necessary knowledge and experience for the purposes of COB 5.3.4.

5.3.7. Warning the Client

If an Authorised Firm considers that the Investment Service, Investment or Transaction is not appropriate for the Client, it must issue a warning to the Client that it is not considered to be appropriate.

5.4. Information about the Client

An Authorised Firm must take reasonable steps to ensure the information it holds about a Client is at all times accurate, complete and up to date.

5.5. Record keeping

The Authorised Firm must keep a record of its suitability reports for a minimum of six years. It is not required to keep a record of the suitability report if the Client does not proceed with the recommendation.

6. ORDER EXECUTION AND ORDER HANDLING

6.1. Best execution

6.1.1. Application

COB 6 applies to an Authorised Firm that executes orders for or on behalf of a Client.

The Rules in COB 6 do not apply to an Authorised Firm with respect to any transaction which:

- (a) it undertakes with a Market Counterparty, except for COB 6.2.9;
- (b) it carries out for the purposes of managing a Fund of which it is the Fund Manager; or
- (c) is an Execution-Only Transaction.

Where an Authorised Firm executes an Execution-Only Transaction with or for a Client, the Authorised Firm is not relieved from providing best execution in respect of any aspect of that transaction which lies outside the Client's specific instructions.

6.1.2. Best execution obligation

Subject to COB 6.1.3, when an Authorised Firm executes any transaction with or for a Client in an Investment, it must take all sufficient steps to obtain the best possible result for the Client taking into account the information available, including the following factors:

- (a) price;
- (b) costs;
- (c) speed;
- (d) likelihood of execution and settlement;
- (e) size;
- (f) nature; and
- (g) any other consideration relevant to execution.

6.1.3. Best execution with or for Retail Clients

When an Authorised Firm executes a transaction in an Investment for a Retail Client, the best possible result will be determined by reference to the price and other costs, including execution venue fees, clearing and settlement fees and any other fees paid to third parties involved in the execution of the order.

6.1.4. Specific instructions

When an Authorised Firm executes a transaction in accordance with specific instructions from the Client, it should be treated as having met its best execution obligation in relation to that part of the order covered by those instructions.

6.2. Client order handling

6.2.1. Application

The Rules in COB 6.2 do not apply to an Authorised Firm with respect to any transaction which:

- (a) it undertakes with a Market Counterparty; or
- (b) it carries out for the purposes of managing a Fund of which it is the Fund Manager.

6.2.2. General requirement

An Authorised Firm that executes orders on behalf of Clients must ensure that it has in place procedures that provide for the prompt, fair and expeditious execution of orders for a Client, relative to orders for itself or for other Clients.

6.2.3. General obligation in relation to orders for a Client

An Authorised Firm must satisfy the following conditions when executing orders for a Client:

- (a) orders executed for Clients must be promptly and accurately recorded and allocated;
- (b) comparable orders for Clients must be executed sequentially and promptly unless the characteristics of the order or prevailing market conditions make this impracticable, or the interests of the Client require otherwise;

- (c) a Retail Client must be informed of any material difficulty relevant to the proper execution of orders promptly when the Authorised Firm becomes aware of the difficulty; and
- (d) make and maintain a record of:
 - (i) the date and time of the allocation;
 - (ii) the relevant Investments;
 - (iii) the identity of each Client concerned; and
 - (iv) the amount allocated to each Client and to the Authorised Firm recorded against the intended allocation as required by (a).

6.2.4. Aggregation of orders

An Authorised Firm may aggregate an order for a Client with an order for other Clients or with an order for its own account only where:

- (a) it is unlikely that the aggregation will operate to the disadvantage of any Client whose orders have been aggregated;
- (b) the Authorised Firm has disclosed in writing to the Client that his order may be aggregated and that the effect of the aggregation may be to his disadvantage;
- (c) the Authorised Firm has made a record of the intended basis of allocation and the identity of each Client before the order is effected; and
- (d) the Authorised Firm has in place written standards and policies on aggregation and allocation which are consistently applied and should include the policy that will be adopted when only part of the aggregated order has been filled.

6.2.5. Allocation of Investments

Where an Authorised Firm has aggregated a Client order with an order for other Clients or with an order for its own account, and part or all of the aggregated order has been filled, it must:

(a) promptly allocate the Investments concerned;

- (b) allocate the Investments in accordance with the stated intention; and
- (c) ensure the allocation is done fairly and uniformly by not giving undue preference to itself or to any of those for whom it dealt.

6.2.6. Churning

An Authorised Firm must not execute a transaction for a Client in its discretion or advise any Client to transact with a frequency or in amounts to the extent that those transactions might be deemed to be excessive. The onus will be on the Authorised Firm to ensure that such Transactions were fair and reasonable at the time they were entered into.

6.2.7. Timely execution

Once an Authorised Firm has agreed or decided to enter into a transaction for a Client, it must do so as soon as reasonably practical. An Authorised Firm may postpone the execution of a transaction if it has taken reasonable steps to ensure that it is in the best interests of the Client.

6.2.8. Averaging of prices

An Authorised Firm may execute a series of transactions on behalf of a Client within the same trading day or within such other period as may be agreed in writing by the Client, to achieve one investment decision or objective, or to meet transactions which it has aggregated. If the Authorised Firm does so, it may determine a uniform price for the transactions executed during the period, calculated as the weighted average of the various prices of the transactions in the series.

6.2.9. Records of orders and transactions

When an Authorised Firm:

- (a) receives a Client order or in the exercise of its discretion decides upon a transaction;
- (b) executes a transaction; or
- (c) passes a Client order to another Person for execution,

it must promptly make a record of the information set out in Schedule 1.

6.3. Voice and electronic communications

6.3.1. General requirement

An Authorised Firm must, subject to COB 6.3.4, take reasonable steps to ensure that it makes and retains:

- (a) recordings of voice communications, including telephone conversations, other than communications where both parties are physically present; and
- (b) copies of electronic communications,

when such communications are with a Client or with another Person in relation to a Transaction, including the receiving or transmitting of related instructions.

6.3.2. Notification to Clients

The Authorised Firm must notify new and existing Clients that relevant voice communications between the Authorised Firm and its Clients in relation to a Transaction will be recorded. The Authorised Firm is only required to inform its Clients once, prior to the provision of any Investment Service to a new Client or when this obligation applies for the first time in relation to an existing Client.

6.3.3. Privately owned equipment

An Authorised Firm must take all reasonable steps to prevent an Employee or contractor from making, sending, or receiving relevant voice and electronic communications on privately owned equipment which the Authorised Firm is unable to record or copy.

6.3.4. Exemption for non-specific communications

The obligation in COB 6.3.1 does not apply in relation to relevant voice and electronic communications which are not intended to lead to the conclusion of a specific Transaction and are general conversations or communications about market conditions.

6.3.5. Record keeping

The records retained under COB 6.3.1 must be:

(a) kept accessible, such that the Authorised Firm is able to demonstrate that all relevant records are capable of being promptly accessed;

- (b) maintained in comprehensible form or capable of being promptly reproduced; and
- (c) protected from unauthorised alteration.

6.3.6. Length of retention period

Recordings of relevant voice communications and copies of electronic communication recordings must be retained for a minimum of six months.

6.4. Direct Electronic Access

Where an Authorised Firm provides a Client (including a Market Counterparty) with direct electronic access to an Authorised Market Institution, the Authorised Firm must:

- (a) establish and maintain policies, procedures, systems and controls to limit or prevent a Client from placing an order that would result in the position limits or credit limits being exceeded; and
- (b) ensure that such policies, procedures, systems and controls remain appropriate and effective on an on-going basis.

7. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1. The general obligation

In accordance with Principle 8 of the Principles for Authorised Persons in GEN, an Authorised Firm must take all reasonable steps to ensure that conflicts of interest between itself and its Clients, between its Employees and Clients and between one Client and another are identified and then prevented or managed, or disclosed, in such a way that the interests of a Client are not adversely affected.

7.2. Identifying a conflict of interest

In order to identify the conflicts of interest that may arise in the course of its business, an Authorised Firm must consider whether it or a Person linked to the firm:

- (a) is likely to make a financial gain, or avoid a financial loss, at the expense of a Client;
- (b) has an interest in the outcome of a service or a transaction carried out for the Client, which is different from the Client's interest;
- (c) has arranged for one part of its business or a business line to provide a service or carry out a transaction for a Client that has a favourable or beneficial impact on another part or business line of the same Authorised Firm or Person linked to the firm;
- (d) has any incentive to favour one Client over another Client;
- (e) carries on the same business or activities as the Client; or
- (f) receives an inducement from a third party in relation to a service provided to a Client.

7.3. Managing a conflict of interest

Where an Authorised Firm is aware of a conflict or potential conflict of interest, it must take all reasonable steps to prevent that conflict of interest from adversely affecting the Client by using the following arrangements as appropriate:

- (a) establishing and maintaining effective organisational arrangements to prevent or manage conflicts, including information barriers to restrict the communication of the relevant information; and
- (b) disclosing the conflict of interest to the Client in writing either generally or in relation to a specific transaction, the risks resulting from that conflict, and the steps taken to address the conflict.

If an Authorised Firm is unable to prevent or manage a conflict or potential conflict of interest, it must decline to act for that Client.

Guidance: Information barriers

An information barrier, also known as a "Chinese wall", is an arrangement that requires a Person involved in one part of an Authorised Firm's business to withhold information from Persons involved in another part of the business.

7.4. Inducements

7.4.1. General requirement

An Authorised Firm must have policies and procedures in place to ensure that it, or its Employee or Associate, does not offer, give, solicit or accept any inducement from a third party, such as a fee, commissions or other direct or indirect benefit, where the inducement is reasonably likely to conflict with any duty that the Authorised Firm owes to its Clients.

7.4.2. Introductions

In circumstances where an Authorised Firm introduces a Client to a third party and receives a fee, commission or other benefit in respect of that introduction, such fee, commission or other benefit received in respect of such a referral would not be a prohibited inducement under this Rule, provided that the Authorised Firm has acted in the best interests of the Client.

7.4.3. Requirement to disclose inducements

An Authorised Firm must, before providing a Financial Product or Financial Service to a Client, disclose to that Client any inducement which it, or any Associate or Employee of it, has received or may or will receive as a result of providing the Financial Product or Financial Service.

7.4.4. Disclosure in summary form

An Authorised Firm may provide the information required by COB 7.4.3 in summary form, provided it informs the client that more detailed information will be provided to the client upon request and complies with such a request.

7.4.5. Record keeping

An Authorised Firm shall maintain record of inducements disclosed under COB 7.4.3 for a period of six years after such inducement was disclosed.

7.5. Personal Transactions

7.5.1. Conditions for Personal Transactions

An Authorised Firm must establish and maintain adequate policies and procedures so as to ensure that:

- (a) an Employee does not undertake a Personal Transaction unless:
 - (i) the Authorised Firm has, in a written notice, drawn to the attention of the Employee the conditions upon which the Employee may undertake Personal Transactions and that the contents of such a notice are made a term of his contract of employment or services;
 - (ii) the Authorised Firm has given its written permission to that Employee for that transaction or to transactions generally in Investments of that kind; and
 - (iii) the transaction will not conflict with the Authorised Firm's duties to its Clients;
- (b) it receives prompt notification or is otherwise aware of each Employee's Personal Transactions; and
- (c) if an Employee's Personal Transactions are conducted with the Authorised Firm, each Employee's account must be clearly identified and distinguishable from other Clients' accounts.

7.5.2. Content of written notice

The written notice in COB 7.5.1(a)(i) must make it explicit that, if an Employee is prohibited from undertaking a Personal Transaction, he must not, except in the proper course of his

employment:

- (a) procure another Person to enter into such a Transaction; or
- (b) communicate any information or opinion to another Person if he knows, or ought to know, that the Person will as a result, enter into such a Transaction or procure some other Person to do so.

Where an Authorised Firm has taken reasonable steps to ensure that an Employee will not be involved to any material extent in, or have access to information about, the Authorised Firm's Regulated Activities, then the Authorised Firm need not comply with the requirements in COB 7.5.1 in respect of that Employee.

8. CLIENT ASSETS

8.1. Application

8.1.1. Purpose of COB 8

The purpose of this section is providing protection for the Client, in the event that an Authorised Firm becomes insolvent or is otherwise unable to fulfil its obligations, in relation to any Money or Investments that are held by the Authorised Firm for that Client.

8.1.2. Application of COB 8

This section applies to an Authorised Firm which:

- (a) receives Money from, or holds or controls Money for or on behalf of, a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business in or from the AIFC;
- (b) holds or controls Instruments belonging to a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business in or from the AIFC; or
- (c) Provides Custody in or from the AIFC.

8.1.3. Meaning of "hold" and "control"

Client Assets are held or controlled by an Authorised Firm if they are:

- (a) directly held by the Authorised Firm;
- (b) held in an account in the name of the Authorised Firm;
- (c) held by a Person, or in an account in the name of a Person, controlled by the Authorised Firm; or
- (d) held in the Client's own name, but the Authorised Firm has a mandate from the Client to manage those assets on a discretionary basis.

Guidance: Examples of Client Assets controlled by an Authorised Firm

For the purposes of COB 8.1.3, the AFSA would consider:

(i) a Person to be controlled by an Authorised Firm if that Person is inclined to act in accordance with the instructions of the Authorised Firm;

- (ii) an account to be controlled by an Authorised Firm if that account is operated in accordance with the instructions of the Authorised Firm; and
- (iii) if an Authorised Firm has a discretionary portfolio mandate from a Client, even though the assets are to be held in the name of the Client (for example, under a power of attorney arrangement), the Authorised Firm controls those assets as it can execute transactions relating to those assets, within the parameters set out in the mandate, in which situation the rules on mandates in COB 8.4 shall apply.

8.1.4. General requirements

An Authorised Firm which receives Money from, or holds Money for or on behalf of, a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business in or from the AIFC must comply with COB 8.2.

An Authorised Firm which holds Investments belonging to a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business in or from the AIFC or Provides Custody in or from the AIFC must comply with COB 8.3.

A Client whose Investments or Money is required to be held in compliance with either COB 8.2 or COB 8.3 is a "Segregated Client".

An Authorised Firm which controls Money or Investments belonging to a Client under a Mandate but does not receive or hold that Money or those Investments itself must comply with COB 8.4.

8.1.5. Arranging Custody

An Authorised Firm which Arranges Custody must comply with the requirements in COB 8.3.7 (on assessing the suitability of Third Party Account Providers), COB 8.3.13 (on disclosure) and COB 8.3.15 (on record keeping).

8.2. Client Money Rules

The rules in this COB 8.2 are the Client Money Rules.

8.2.1. Meaning of "Client Money"

All Money received or held on behalf of a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business in or from the AIFC is Client Money, except Money which is:

- (a) (where the Authorised Firm is a Bank) held as a deposit by the Authorised Firm;
- (b) due and payable by the Client to the Authorised Firm for the account of the Authorised Firm. Examples of situations where Money is due and payable to an Authorised Firm includes Money which is payable to the Authorised Firm in respect of its charges or a Client purchase or in settlement of a margin payment;
- (c) belongs to another Person within the Authorised Firm's Group (unless that Person notified the Authorised Firm in writing that the beneficial owner of the Money is a Person who is not part of the Authorised Firm's Group and has requested that the Client Money Rules should apply to such Money);
- (d) in an account in the Client's name over which the Authorised Firm has a Mandate or similar authority and which is subject to COB 8.4;
- (e) received in the form of a cheque, or other payable order, made payable to a third party other than a Person or account controlled by the Authorised Firm, provided the cheque or other payable order is intended to be forwarded to the third party within one business day of receipt; or
- (f) Fund Property of a Fund.

Where the Authorised Firm is a Bank and holds the Client's Money as a Deposit in accordance with (a) above, it must prior to providing the Investment Business in respect of that Money notify the Client in writing that:

- (a) the Money held by the Authorised Firm is held as a Deposit and will not be subject to the Client Money Rules; and
- (b) in the event that the Authorised Firm fails, the Client Money Distribution Rules will not apply.

8.2.2. Exclusion of the Client Money Rules

Where the Client is a Market Counterparty or a Professional Client, the Authorised Firm and the Client may agree to exclude the application of the Client Money Rules. Any such agreement with the Client must be in writing and must be entered into before the Authorised Firm provides Investment Business in respect of that Money.

Where the Authorised Firm proposes to exclude the application of the Client Money Rules under this COB 8.2.2, it must prior to obtaining the Client's agreement disclose to the Client in writing that the Money held by the Authorised Firm will not be subject to the protections conferred by the Client Money Rules.

8.2.3. General requirements

An Authorised Firm which receives or holds Client Money for a Segregated Client must:

- (a) comply with the Client Money Rules in relation to that Client Money; and
- (b) have systems and controls in place to be able to evidence its compliance with the Client Money Rules.

8.2.4. Client Money Accounts

A Client Money Account in relation to Client Money is an account which:

- (a) is held with a Third Party Account Provider;
- (b) is established for the purpose of holding Client Money;
- (c) is maintained in the name of the Authorised Firm or a Nominee Company controlled by the Authorised Firm; and
- (d) includes the words 'Client Account' in its title.

8.2.5. Requirement to pay Client Money into Client Money Account

Where an Authorised Firm receives or holds Client Money it must ensure (except where otherwise provided in COB 8.2.8) that the Client Money is paid into one or more Client Money Accounts within one day of receipt.

Where an Authorised Firm deposits any Money into a Client Money Account, such Money is Client Money until the Money is withdrawn from the Client Money Account in accordance with the Client Money Rules.

8.2.6. Client Money held for Segregated Clients in a Client Money Account

An Authorised Firm may hold Client Money belonging to a Segregated Client:

(a) in a Client Money Account solely for that Client; or

(b) in a Client Money Account containing the pooled Client Money of more than one Segregated Client.

8.2.7. Client Money Account to contain Client Money only

An Authorised Firm must:

- (a) not deposit its own Money into a Client Money Account, other than where:
 - (i) a minimum sum is required to open the Client Money Account, or to keep it open;
 - (ii) the Money is received by way of mixed remittance (provided the Authorised Firm transfers out that part of the payment which is not Client Money within one day of the day on which the Authorised Firm would normally expect the remittance to be cleared);
 - (iii) interest credited to the account exceeds the amount payable to Segregated Clients (provided that the Money is removed within twenty-five days); or
 - (iv) it is to meet a shortfall in Client Money;
- (b) maintain systems and controls for identifying Money which must not be in a Client Money Account and for transferring it without delay;
- (c) not use Client Money belonging to one Client to satisfy an obligation of another Client; and
- (d) ensure that no off-setting or debit balances occur on Client Money Accounts.

8.2.8. Exceptions to Holding Client Money in Client Money Accounts

The requirement for an Authorised Firm to pay Client Money into a Client Money Account does not apply with respect to Client Money:

- (a) received in the form of cheque, or other payable order, until the Authorised Firm, or a Person or account controlled by the Authorised Firm, is in receipt of the proceeds of that cheque;
- (b) temporarily held by an Authorised Firm before forwarding to a Person nominated by the Client; or
- (c) in connection with a Delivery Versus Payment Transaction where:

- (i) in respect of a purchase by the Client, the Client Money will be due to the Authorised Firm within one day following the Authorised Firm's fulfilment of its delivery obligation to the Client; or
- (ii) in respect of a sale by the Client, the Client Money will be due to the Client within one day following the Client's fulfilment of its delivery obligation to the Authorised Firm.

Where (b) or (c) apply, the Authorised Firm must pay the Client Money into a Client Money Account where it has not fulfilled its delivery or payment obligation within three days of receipt of the Money or Investments, except where the circumstances in (c)(ii) apply and the Authorised Firm instead safeguards Client Investments of a value at least equal to the value of such Client Money.

An Authorised Firm must maintain adequate records of all cheques and payment orders received in accordance with (a) above including, in respect of each payment, the date of receipt, the name of the Client for whom payment is to be credited and the date on which the cheque or payment order was presented to the Authorised Firm's Third Party Account Provider. The records must be kept for a minimum of six years.

8.2.9. Conditions for use of Third Party Account Providers

Save as provided in this COB 8.2.9, an Authorised Firm may only pass, or permit to be passed, Client Money to a Third Party Account Provider if:

- (a) the Client Money is to be used in respect of a Transaction or series or Transactions for that Client;
- (b) the Client Money is to be used to meet an obligation of that Client;
- (c) the Third Party Account Provider is a Bank or a Regulated Financial Institution which is authorised to accept or take Deposits; or
- (d) the Client Money is put into a Shari'ah product that is offered by a Third Party Account Provider and that has been approved by the AFSA as being suitable for the holding of Client Money.

In respect of (a) and (b) above, an Authorised Firm must not hold the Client Money with the Third Party Account Provider longer than necessary to effect a Transaction or satisfy the Client's obligation.

8.2.10. Holding Client Money with Third Party Account Providers

An Authorised Firm may only pay, or permit to be paid, Client Money to a Third Party Account Provider pursuant to COB 8.2.9 (c) or (d) above where it has:

- (a) undertaken appropriate due diligence on the Third Party Account Provider and concluded on reasonable grounds that the Third Party Account Provider is suitable to hold that Client Money; and
- (b) confirmed that the laws and regulations of both:
 - (i) the jurisdiction in which the Client Money will be held; and
 - (ii) the jurisdiction in which the relevant Bank or Regulated Financial Institution is legally established (if different),

recognise that Client Money belongs beneficially to the Client and will not be available to satisfy any debts of the Bank or Regulated Financial Institution.

8.2.11. Due diligence on Third Party Account Providers

When undertaking due diligence on a Third Party Account Provider, an Authorised Firm should have regard to the following:

- (a) the following characteristics of the Third Party Account Provider:
 - (i) its expertise and market reputation;
 - (ii) its credit rating;
 - (iii) its capital and financial resources;
 - (iv) the amount of Client Money placed, as a proportion of its overall capital and deposits;
 - (v) the extent to which the Client Money would be protected under a deposit guarantee protection scheme;
 - (vi) where such information is available, the level of risk in the investment and loan activities undertaken by it or members of its Group;
 - (vii) its use of agents and service providers; and
 - (viii) the financial position of its Group; and

(b) (without prejudice to the obligation under (a) above) any legal requirements or market practices in the jurisdiction in which it is located (including the insolvency regime in that jurisdiction) which may adversely affect the protections available in respect of any Client Money placed with the Third Party Account Provider.

When assessing the suitability of the Third Party Account Provider, the Authorised Firm must ensure that the Third Party Account Provider will provide protections equivalent to the protections conferred by the Client Money Rules.

An Authorised Firm must have systems and controls in place to ensure that the Third Party Account Provider remains suitable to hold Client Money for its Segregated Clients. This includes undertaking appropriate due diligence, in the manner described above, on an ongoing basis.

An Authorised Firm must be able to demonstrate to the AIFC's satisfaction the grounds upon which the Authorised Firm considers the Third Party Account Provider to be suitable to hold that Client Money.

8.2.12. Obtaining written acknowledgments from Third Party Account Providers

When an Authorised Firm opens a Client Money Account with a Third Party Account Provider it must obtain a written acknowledgement from the Third Party Account Provider stating that:

- (a) the Third Party Account Provider is under an obligation to keep its own Money separate from the Money it holds for its Clients;
- (b) all Money standing to the credit of the account is held by the Authorised Firm as agent and that the Third Party Account Provider is not entitled to combine the account with any other account or to exercise any charge, mortgage, lien, right of set-off or counterclaim against Money in that account in respect of any sum owed to it on any other account of the Authorised Firm; and
- (c) the title of the account is, or will be, sufficient to distinguish that account from any account containing Money that belongs to the Authorised Firm.

The Authorised Firm must obtain the written acknowledgement referred to above prior to placing any Client Money into an account with the Third Party Account Provider.

8.2.13. Payments of Client Money from Client Money Accounts

Client Money must remain in a Client Money Account until it is:

- (a) due and payable to the Authorised Firm;
- (b) paid to the Client on whose behalf the Client Money is held or to a duly authorised representative of such Client;
- (c) paid in accordance with an instruction from the Client on whose behalf the Client Money is held;
- (d) required to meet the payment obligations of the Client on whose behalf the Client Money is held; or
- (e) paid out in circumstances that are otherwise authorised by the AIFC.

Money paid out by way of cheque or other payable order under this Rule must remain in a Client Money Account until the cheque or payable order is presented to the Client's bank and cleared by the paying agent.

8.2.14. Client Money arising from Client Investments

Money arising from, or in connection with, the holding of Client Investments and which is due to a Client must be treated as Client Money in accordance with the Client Money Rules.

8.2.15. Distribution Event

Following a Distribution Event, an Authorised Firm must comply with the Client Money Distribution Rules and all Client Money will be subject to such Rules.

8.2.16. Client Money Distribution Rules

The requirements in this COB 8.2.16 are the Client Money Distribution Rules and to the extent that these Rules are inconsistent with the AIFC Insolvency Regulations, these Rules will prevail.

Following a Distribution Event, the Authorised Firm must distribute Money in the following order of priorities:

- (a) firstly, in relation to Client Money held in a Client Account on behalf of Segregated Clients, claims relating to that Money must be paid to each Segregated Client in full or, where insufficient funds are held in a Client Account, proportionately, in accordance with each Segregated Client's valid claim over that Money;
- (b) secondly, where the amount of Client Money in a Client Account is insufficient to satisfy the claims of Segregated Clients in respect of that Money, or not being immediately available to satisfy such claims, all other Money held by the Authorised Firm must be used to satisfy any outstanding amounts remaining payable to Segregated Clients in respect of their Client Assets but not satisfied from the application of (a) above;
- (c) thirdly, upon resolution of claims in relation to Segregated Clients, any Money remaining with the Authorised Firm must be paid to each Client in full or, where insufficient funds are held by the Authorised Firm, proportionately, in accordance with each Client's valid claim over that Money; and
- (d) fourthly, upon satisfaction of all claims in (a), (b) and (c) above, in the event of:
 - (i) the appointment of a liquidator, receiver or administrator, or trustee in bankruptcy over the Authorised Firm or the Nominee Company, payment must be made in accordance with the AIFC Insolvency Regulations; or
 - (ii) all other Distribution Events, payment must be made in accordance with the direction of the AFSA.

8.2.17. Procedures relating to Client Money Accounts

An Authorised Firm must have procedures for identifying Client Money received by the Authorised Firm (by whatever means they are received) and for promptly recording the receipt of the Money either in the books of account or a register for later posting to the Client cash book and ledger accounts.

An Authorised Firm must have procedures for ensuring all withdrawals from a Client Money Account are authorised and carried out in accordance with this COB 8.2.17.

8.2.18. Client disclosures

An Authorised Firm that holds Client Money belonging to a Client in must in good time before it provides the relevant Investment Business disclose the following information to the Client:

- (a) that the Client is subject to the protection conferred by the Client Money Rules and, as a consequence:
 - (i) this Money will be held separate from Money belonging to the Authorised Firm; and
 - (ii) in the event of the Authorised Firm's insolvency, winding up or other Distribution Event stipulated by the AIFC, the Client's Money will be subject to the Client Money Distribution Rules;
- (b) whether the Client Money of that Client may be held by a third party on behalf of the Authorised Firm, and if so, what degree of responsibility the Authorised Firm has for any acts or omissions of the third party; and what the likely consequences are for the Client of the insolvency of the third party;
- (c) whether interest is payable to the Client and, if so, on what terms;
- (d) if applicable, that the Client Money may be held in a jurisdiction outside the AIFC and the market practices, insolvency and legal regime applicable in that jurisdiction may differ from the regime applicable in the AIFC;
- (e) if applicable, details about how any Client Money arising out of Islamic Financial Business are to be held; and
- (f) details of any rights which the Authorised Firm may have to realise Client Money held on behalf of the Client in satisfaction of a default by the Client or otherwise.

8.2.19. Client reporting

In relation to each Client for whom it receives or holds Client Money, an Authorised Firm must provide at least once a year an audited statement of the Client Money unless such a statement has been provided in a periodic statement in accordance with COB 9.

8.2.20. Record keeping

An Authorised Firm must maintain records which enable it to determine promptly the total amount of Client Money that it holds for each of its Clients.

An Authorised Firm must maintain records:

- (a) which enable the Authorised Firm to demonstrate compliance with the Client Money Rules; and
- (b) which enable the Authorised Firm to demonstrate and explain all entries of Money held in accordance with the Client Money Rules.

Records must be kept for a minimum of six years.

8.2.21. Reconciliations

An Authorised Firm must maintain a system to ensure that accurate reconciliations of the Client Accounts are carried out at least once in every calendar month.

8.2.22. Nature of reconciliation

The reconciliation must include:

- (a) a full list of individual Segregated Client credit ledger balances, as recorded by the Authorised Firm;
- (b) a full list of individual Segregated Client debit ledger balances, as recorded by the Authorised Firm;
- (c) a full list of unpresented cheques and outstanding lodgements;
- (d) a full list of Client Account cash book balances; and
- (e) formal statements from Third Party Account Providers showing account balances as at the date of reconciliation.

8.2.23. Requirements for reconciliation

An Authorised Firm must:

(a) reconcile the individual credit ledger balances, Client Account cash book balances, and the Third Party Account Provider Client Account balances;

- (b) check that the balance in the Client Accounts as at the close of business on the previous day was at least equal to the aggregate balance of individual credit ledger balances as at the close of business on the previous day; and
- (c) ensure that all shortfalls, excess balances and unresolved differences, other than differences arising solely as a result of timing differences between the accounting systems of the Third Party Account Provider and the Authorised Firm, are investigated and, where applicable, corrective action taken as soon as possible.

An Authorised Firm must perform the reconciliations in the preceding paragraph within 10 days of the date to which the reconciliation relates.

An Authorised Firm must ensure that the process of reconciliation does not give rise to a conflict of interest.

8.2.24. Review of reconciliation

When performing reconciliations in accordance with COB 8.2.21, an Authorised Firm should:

- (a) maintain a clear separation of duties to ensure that an employee with responsibility for operating Client Accounts, or an employee that has the authority to make payments, does not perform the reconciliations; and
- (b) ensure that the reconciliations are reviewed by a member of the Authorised Firm who has adequate seniority. The member in quesion must provide a written statement confirming the reconciliation has been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of COB 8.3.21-8.2.23.

Guidance: Material discrepancies

The Authorised Firm should notify the AFSA where there has been a material discrepancy with the reconciliation which has not been rectified. A material discrepancy includes discrepancies which have the cumulative effect of being material, such as longstanding discrepancies.

8.3. Client Investments Rules

The rules in COB 8.3 are the Client Investments Rules.

8.3.1. Meaning of Client Investments

A Client Investment is an Investment held by an Authorised Firm on behalf of a Client in the course of, or in connection with, the carrying on of Investment Business by the Authorised Firm.

8.3.2. Exceptions to the Client Investments Rules

The Client Investments Rules do not apply to Client Investments held as Collateral in accordance with the provisions of this COB 8.3.2.

Before an Authorised Firm holds Collateral from a Client it must disclose to that Client:

- (a) the terms governing the arrangement under which the Collateral will be held, including any rights which the Authorised Firm may have to realise the Collateral and the terms governing the termination of the arrangement;
- (b) if applicable, that the Collateral will not be registered in that Client's own name;
- (c) if applicable, that the Authorised Firm proposes to return to the Client Collateral other than the original Collateral, or original type of Collateral; and
- (d) that in the event of the insolvency, winding up or other Distribution Event stipulated by the AFSA, any excess Collateral will be sold and the resulting Client Money shall be distributed in accordance with the Client Money Distribution Rules.

An Authorised Firm must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Collateral is properly safeguarded.

Before an Authorised Firm deposits a Client's Collateral with a Third Party Account Provider it must notify the Third Party Account Provider that:

- (a) the Collateral does not belong to the Authorised Firm and must be held by the Third Party Account Provider in a segregated Client Investment Account in a name that clearly identifies it as belonging to the Authorised Firm's Clients; and
- (b) the Third Party Account Provider is not entitled to claim any lien or right of retention or sale over the Collateral except to cover the obligations owed to the third party which gave rise to that deposit, pledge, charge or security arrangement or any charges relating to the administration or safekeeping of the Collateral.

Notwithstanding that the Client Investments Rules do not apply to Collateral held by an Authorised Firm in accordance with this COB 8.3.2, the Authorised Firm must carry out appropriate due diligence in relation to the Third Party Account Provider to at least the standards specified in COB 8.3.7.

An Authorised Firm must withdraw the Collateral from the third party where the Collateral

is not being properly safeguarded unless the Client has indicated otherwise in writing.

8.3.3. Safeguarding Client Investments

An Authorised Firm which holds Client Investments must have systems and controls in place to ensure the proper safeguarding of Client Investments.

An Authorised Firm which Provides Custody or holds Client Investments must ensure that Client Investments are recorded, registered and held in an appropriate manner to safeguard and control such property.

8.3.4. Client Investment Accounts

A Client Investment Account is an account which:

- (a) is held with a Third Party Account Provider or by an Authorised Firm which is authorised under its Licence to Provide Custody;
- (b) is established for the purpose of holding Client Investments;
- (c) when held by a Third Party Account Provider, is maintained in the name of the Authorised Firm or a Nominee Company controlled by the Authorised Firm; and
- (d) includes the words 'Client Account' in its title.

8.3.5. Registration and recording of Client Investments

An Authorised Firm which Provides Custody or holds Client Investments must register or record all Client Investments in the name of:

- (a) the Client;
- (b) a Nominee Company that is controlled by the Authorised Firm; or
- (c) the Authorised Firm where, due to the nature of the law or market practice, it is not feasible to do otherwise.

Save as provided in (c) above, an Authorised Firm which Provides Custody or holds or controls Client Investments must record, register and hold Client Investments separately from its own Investments.

8.3.6. Registration and recording of Client Investments

An Authorised Firm may record, register or hold a Client Investment in:

- (a) a Client Investment Account solely for that Client; or
- (b) a Client Investment Account containing the pooled Investments of more than one Client.

8.3.7. Holding Client Investments with Third Party Account Providers

An Authorised Firm may only hold a Client Investment with a Third Party Account Provider where it has:

- (a) undertaken appropriate due diligence on the Third Party Account Provider and concluded on reasonable grounds that the Third Party Account Provider is suitable to hold those Client Investments; and
- (b) confirmed that the laws and regulations of both:
 - (i) the jurisdiction in which the Client Investments will be held; and
 - (ii) the jurisdiction in which the relevant Bank or Regulated Financial Institution is legally established (if different),

recognise that Client Investments belong beneficially to the Client and will not be available to satisfy any debts of the Bank or Regulated Financial Institution.

8.3.8. Due diligence on Third Party Account Providers

When undertaking due diligence on a Third Party Account Provider, an Authorised Firm should have regard to the following:

- (a) the following characteristics of the Third Party Account Provider:
 - (i) its expertise and market reputation;
 - (ii) its credit rating;
 - (iii) its capital and financial resources;
 - (iv) the value of the Client Investments held, as a proportion of its overall capital and deposits;
 - (v) the extent to which the Client Investments would be protected under a deposit guarantee protection scheme;
 - (vi) where such information is available, the level of risk in the investment and loan activities undertaken by it or members of its Group;

- (vii) its use of agents and service providers; and
- (viii) the financial position of its Group; and
- (b) (without prejudice to the obligation under (a) above) any legal requirements or market practices in the jurisdiction in which it is located (including the insolvency regime in that jurisdiction) which may adversely affect the protections available in respect of any Client Investments placed with the Third Party Account Provider.

When assessing the suitability of the Third Party Account Provider, the Authorised Firm must ensure that the Third Party Account Provider will provide protections equivalent to the protections conferred by the Client Investments Rules.

An Authorised Firm must have systems and controls in place to ensure that the Third Party Account Provider remains suitable to hold Client Investments for its Segregated Clients. This includes undertaking appropriate due diligence, in the manner described above, on an ongoing basis.

An Authorised Firm must be able to demonstrate to the AIFC's satisfaction the grounds upon which the Authorised Firm considers the Third Party Account Provider to be suitable to hold Client Investments.

8.3.9. Entering into written agreements with Third Party Account Providers

Before an Authorised Firm passes, or permits to be passed, Client Investments to a Third Party Account Provider, it must enter into a written agreement with the Third Party Account Provider under which the Third Party Account Provider agrees that:

- (a) it shall keep the Client Investments separately from assets belonging to the Third Party Account Provider;
- (b) all Investments standing to the credit of the account are held by the Authorised Firm as agent and that the Third Party Account Provider is not entitled to combine the account with any other account or to exercise any charge, mortgage, lien, right of set-off or counterclaim against Investments in that account in respect of any sum owed to it on any other account of the Authorised Firm;
- (c) the title of the account is, or will be, sufficient to distinguish that account from any account containing Investments that belong to the Authorised Firm or the Third Party Account Provider; and
- (d) it shall provide a written statement on at least a monthly basis identifying all of the Client Investments that it holds for the Authorised Firm.

8.3.10. Contents of agreements with Third Party Account Providers

The written agreement between the Authorised Firm and the Third Party Provider must also address the following:

- (a) the procedures for the passing of instructions to or by the Authorised Firm;
- (b) the procedures for dealing with dividends, interest payments and other entitlements accruing to the Client in connection with the Client Investments that are held by the Third Party Account Provider; and
- (c) the extent to which the Third Party Account Provider is liable in the event of loss of a Client Investment caused by the acts or omissions of the Third Party Account Provider or any agent of the Third Party Account Provider.

8.3.11. Use of Client Investments for the purposes of the Authorised Firm or another Person

An Authorised Firm must not use a Client Investment for its own purpose or that of another Person without the prior written permission of the relevant Client.

An Authorised Firm which intends to use a Client Investment for its own purpose or that of another Person, must have systems and controls in place to ensure that:

- (a) it obtains the prior written permission of the relevant Client to the use of the Client Investment;
- (b) adequate records are maintained to protect Client Investments which are applied as collateral or used for stock lending activities;
- (c) the equivalent Investments are returned to the Client Investment Account of the Client; and
- (d) the Client is not disadvantaged by the use of its Client Investments.

8.3.12. Procedures relating to Client Investment Accounts

An Authorised Firm must have procedures for ensuring that Client Investments are promptly identified and held in accordance with the provisions of this COB 8.3.

8.3.13. Client disclosure

An Authorised Firm that holds Client Investments belonging to a Segregated Client must disclose the following information to the Client:

- (a) that the Client is subject to the protections conferred by the Client Investments Rules;
- (b) the arrangements for recording and registering Client Investments, claiming and receiving dividends and other entitlements and interest and the giving and receiving instructions relating to those Client Investments (including, if applicable, a statement that the Authorised Firm intends to mix the Client Investments of the Client with those of other Clients);
- (c) whether the Client Investments of that Client may be held by a third party on behalf of the Authorised Firm, and if so, what degree of responsibility the Authorised Firm has for any acts or omissions of the third party; and what the likely consequences are for the Client of the insolvency of the third party;
- (d) if applicable, that the Client Investments may be held in a jurisdiction outside the AIFC and the market practices, insolvency and legal regime applicable in that jurisdiction may differ from the regime applicable in the AIFC;
- (e) details of any rights which the Authorised Firm may have to realise Client Investments held on behalf of the Client in satisfaction of a default by the Client or otherwise; and
- (f) the method and frequency upon which the Authorised Firm will report to the Client in relation to its Client Investments.

8.3.14. Client reporting

In relation to each Client for whom it receives or holds Client Investments, an Authorised Firm must provide at least once a year an audited statement of the Client Investments unless such a statement has been provided in a periodic statement in accordance with COB 9.

8.3.15. Record keeping

An Authorised Firm must maintain records:

- (a) which enable the Authorised Firm to demonstrate compliance with the Client Investments Rules; and
- (b) which enable the Authorised Firm at any time and without delay to distinguish Client Investments held for one Client from those held for another Client and from the Authorised Firm's own assets; and
- (c) of all agreements entered into with Third Party Account Providers pursuant to COB8.3.7 and any instructions given by the Authorised Firm to the Third Party Account

Provider under the terms of such agreements.

Records must be kept for a minimum of six years.

8.3.16. Reconciliations

An Authorised Firm must:

- (a) at least once every calendar month, reconcile its records of Client Accounts held with Third Party Account Providers with monthly statements received from those Third Party Account Providers;
- (b) at least every six months, count all Client Investments physically held by the Authorised Firm, or its Nominee Company, and reconcile the result of that count to the records of the Authorised Firm; and
- (c) at least every six months, reconcile individual Client ledger balances with the Authorised Firm's records of Client Investment balances held in Client Accounts.

An Authorised Firm must ensure that the process of reconciliation does not give rise to a conflict of interest.

8.3.17. Review of reconciliation

When performing reconciliations in accordance with COB 8.3.16, an Authorised Firm should:

- (a) maintain a clear separation of duties to ensure that an employee with responsibility for operating Client Accounts, or an employee that has the authority to make payments, does not perform the reconciliations; and
- (b) ensure that the reconciliations are reviewed by a member of the Authorised Firm who has adequate seniority. The member in question must provide a written statement confirming the reconciliation has been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of COB 8.3.16.

Guidance: Material discrepancies

The Authorised Firm should notify the AFSA where there has been a material discrepancy with the reconciliation which has not been rectified. A material discrepancy includes discrepancies which have the cumulative effect of being material, such as longstanding discrepancies.

8.4. Mandates

Where an Authorised Firm holds a Mandate, it must establish adequate records and systems and controls in respect of its use of the Mandates.

Where an Authorised Firm holds Mandates, it must:

- (a) maintain an up-to-date list of all such Mandates, including any conditions placed by the Client or by the Authorised Firm on the use of the Mandate and details of the procedures and authorities for the giving and receiving of instructions under the Mandate;
- (b) maintain a record of each Transaction entered into under each Mandate; and
- (c) ensure that all Transactions entered into using such a Mandate are are within the scope of the authority of the Employee and the Authorised Firm entering into such Transactions.

9. REPORTING TO CLIENTS

9.1. Trade confirmations

9.1.1. Application

COB 9.1 does not apply to an Authorised Firm that executes a transaction in the course of Managing Investments for a Client.

9.1.2. Providing trade confirmations

When an Authorised Firm executes a transaction in an Investment for a Client, it must provide a confirmation note to the Client as soon as possible and in any case no later than 2 business days following the date of execution of the transaction.

9.1.3. Content of trade confirmations

The confirmation note must include the details of the transaction in accordance with Schedule 3.

9.1.4. Market Counterparties

An Authorised Firm may agree with a Professional Client or Market Counterparty to provide reporting on transactions differently from the requirements in COB 9.1 in relation to content and timing.

9.1.5. Record keeping

An Authorised Firm must retain a copy of each confirmation note sent to a Client and retain it for a minimum of six years from the date of despatch.

9.2. Periodic statements

9.2.1. Requirement to provide periodic statements

When an Authorised Firm:

- (a) Manages Investments for a Client; or
- (b) operates an account containing uncovered open positions in a Contingent Liability Investment,

it must promptly and at suitable intervals provide the Client with a written statement ("a periodic statement") containing the matters referred to in Schedule 4.

Guidance

For these purposes, a "suitable interval" is:

- (a) every three months;
- (b) monthly, if the Client's portfolio includes an uncovered open position in Contingent Liability Investments; or
- (c) at any alternative interval that a Client has on his own initiative agreed with the Authorised Firm but in any case at least annually.

9.2.2. Record keeping

An Authorised Firm must make a copy of any periodic statement provided to a Client and retain it for a minimum of six years from the date on which it was provided.

10. INVESTMENT RESEARCH

10.1. Application

This section applies to an Authorised Firm preparing or publishing Investment Research that is intended to be distributed to Clients of the Authorised Firm or to the public.

10.2. Conflicts of interest

An Authorised Firm that prepares and publishes Investment Research must have adequate procedures and controls in place to ensure that the Rules in COB 7 in respect of conflicts of interest are properly implemented in order to manage or prevent any conflicts arising in respect of Investment Research.

10.3. Restrictions on transactions

10.3.1. Restrictions on investment analysts

An Authorised Firm must have arrangements in place to ensure that an investment analyst does not undertake a Personal Transaction in an Investment if the investment analyst is preparing Investment Research:

- (a) on that Investment or its Issuer; or
- (b) on a related Investment, or its Issuer;

until the Investment Research has been made available to its intended recipients, and those recipients have had a reasonable opportunity to act upon it.

10.3.2. Restrictions on own account transactions

An Authorised Firm or its Associate must not knowingly execute a transaction on its own account in an Investment or related Investments, which is the subject of Investment Research, prepared either by the Authorised Firm or its Associate, until the Investment Research has been made available to its intended recipients, and those recipients have had a reasonable opportunity to act upon it. This restriction does not apply if:

- (a) the Authorised Firm or its Associate is following a Market Making Strategy in the relevant Investment;
- (b) it is not expected to materially affect the price of the Investment.

10.4. Physical separation

The Authorised Firm must put in place:

- (a) a physical separation between the investment analysts preparing Investment Research and other Employees whose interests may conflict with those of the intended recipients of the Investment Research; or
- (b) if physical separation is not appropriate to the nature and size of the Authorised Firm's business, such information barriers as are required to manage or prevent any conflicts of interest.

10.5. Key information

When an Authorised Firm publishes Investment Research, it must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Investment Research:

- (a) states the identity, job title, and relevant financial regulator of the person providing the Investment Research;
- (b) identifies the types of Clients for whom it is principally intended;
- (c) specifies the date when it was first published;
- (d) distinguishes fact from opinion or estimates;
- (e) includes references to sources of data and the extent of their reliability;
- (f) labels all projections, forecasts, and price targets, together with any assumptions supporting them;
- (g) summarises the basis for the valuation or methodology and any underlying assumptions;
- (h) indicates where detailed information on the valuation or methodology can be accessed;
- (i) contains a clear and unambiguous explanation of the rating or recommendation system used, such as "buy", "sell", or "hold";
- (j) specifies the recommended period for the Investment;

- (k) explains the related risk including a sensitivity analysis of the assumptions;
- (I) states the planned frequency of updates to the recommendation;
- (m) includes a distribution of the different ratings or recommendations, in percentage terms:
 - (i) for all Investments;
 - (ii) for Investments in each sector covered; and
 - (iii) for Investments, if any, where the Authorised Firm has undertaken corporate finance business with or for the Issuer over the past 12 months; and
- (n) if intended for use only by a Professional Client or Market Counterparty, contains a clear warning that it should not be relied upon by or distributed to Retail Clients;
- (o) where the recommendation differs from a previous recommendation concerning the same Investment or Issuer that has been disseminated in the preceding 12- month period, the change(s) and date of the previous recommendation;
- (p) a list of all recommendations relating to the relevant instrument or issuer from the previous 12 months, along with the date of dissemination, price target, the price at the time of the recommendation, the direction of the recommendation, the recommended time period of the recommended investment, and the price target, along with the identity of the person(s) who made the recommendation; and
- (s) disclosure of any interests or conflicts of interest in accordance with COB 10.6.

10.6. Disclosure of conflicts of interests

For the purposes of this section, an Authorised Firm must take reasonable steps to ensure that when it publishes Investment Research, and in the case where a representative of the Authorised Firm makes a Public Appearance, disclosure is made of the following matters:

- (a) any financial interest or material interest that the Investment Analyst or a Family Member of the analyst has, which relates to the Investment;
- (b) the reporting lines for Investment Analysts and their remuneration arrangements where such matters give rise to any conflicts of interest which may reasonably be likely to impair the impartiality of the Investment Research;

- (c) any shareholding by the Authorised Firm or its Associate of 1 per cent or more of the total issued share capital of the Issuer;
- (d) if the Authorised Firm or its Associate acts as corporate broker for the Issuer;
- (e) any material shareholding by the Issuer in the Authorised Firm;
- (f) any corporate finance business undertaken by the Authorised Firm with or for the Issuer over the past 12 months, and any future relevant corporate finance business initiatives; and
- (g) that the Authorised Firm is a Market Maker in the Investment, if that is the case.

10.7. Restrictions on publication during public offer

If an Authorised Firm acts as a manager or co-manager of an initial public offering or a secondary offering, it must take reasonable steps to ensure that:

- (a) it does not publish Investment Research relating to the Investment during a Quiet Period; and
- (b) an Investment Analyst from the Authorised Firm does not make a Public Appearance relating to that Investment during a Quiet Period.

10.8. Offers of securities

10.8.1. General requirement

When an Authorised Firm carries out a mandate to manage an Offer of Securities, it must implement adequate internal arrangements to manage any conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the Authorised Firm's duty to two distinct sets of Clients namely the corporate finance Client and the investment Client.

10.8.2. Disclosure

For the purposes of COB 10.8.1, when an Authorised Firm accepts a mandate to manage an Offer, it must take reasonable steps to disclose to its corporate finance Client:

- (a) the process the Authorised Firm proposes to adopt in order to determine what recommendations it will make about allocations for the Offer;
- (b) details of how the target investor group, to whom it is planned to Offer the Securities, will

be identified;

- (c) the process through which recommendations are prepared and by whom; and
- (d) (if relevant) that it may recommend placing Securities with a Client of the Authorised Firm for whom the Authorised Firm provides other services, with the Authorised Firm's own proprietary book, or with an Associate, and that this represents a potential conflict of interest.

11. INSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES

11.1. Application

11.1.1. General application

Subject to COB 11.1.2, an Insurance Intermediary licensed by the AFSA to provide Insurance Intermediation must comply with the Rules in this COB 11.

11.1.2. Professional Clients and Market Counterparties

An Insurance Intermediary providing Insurance Intermediation for a Market Counterparty is only required to comply with COB 11.3.1, 11.7.1, 11.7.2 and 11.8.

An Insurance Intermediary providing Insurance Intermediation for a Professional Client is required to comply with COB 11.2.1, 11.3., 11.4, 11.5.1, 11.5.3, 11.6.1, 11.7 and 11.8.

11.2. Disclosure requirements

11.2.1. General disclosure obligation

Prior to providing Insurance Intermediation to a Client, an Insurance Intermediary must disclose to that Client:

- (a) its name and address;
- (b) its regulatory status;
- (c) the name and address of the insurer or insurers effecting the Contract of Insurance;
- (d) if it has a direct or indirect holding representing 10% or more of the voting rights or capital in an insurer; or
- (e) if an insurer, or its parent undertaking, has a direct or indirect holding representing 10% or more of the voting rights or capital in the Insurance Intermediary;
- (f) contact details for notifying a claim under the Contract of Insurance; and
- (g) details of its complaints-handling procedure.

11.2.2. Disclosure of basis of advice

An Insurance Intermediary must, before providing Insurance Intermediation to a Retail Client, disclose whether:

- (a) it gives advice on the basis of a fair analysis of the market;
- (b) it has a contractual agreement with a particular insurer or insurers to offer only their Contracts of Insurance to Clients; or
- (c) even if there are no contractual agreements of the type referred to in (b), it does not give advice on the basis of a fair analysis of the market.

If (b) or (c) applies, the Insurance Intermediary must be prepared to provide a Retail Client on request with a list of insurers with whom it deals and may deal in relation to the relevant Contracts of Insurance.

11.3. Disclosure of costs and remuneration

11.3.1. Disclosure of costs

An Insurance Intermediary must provide details of the costs of each Contract of Insurance or Insurance Intermediation service offered to a Client.

11.3.2. Disclosure of new costs

An Insurance Intermediary must ensure that it does not impose any new costs, fees or charges without first disclosing the amount and the purpose of such costs, fees, or charges to the Client.

11.3.3. Disclosure of commissions and other benefits

An Insurance Intermediary must, at the request of any Client, disclose to that Client any commissions or other benefits that it receives in connection with its Insurance Intermediation for that Client.

11.4. Obligation on Client to disclose material facts

An Insurance Intermediary must explain to a Client:

- (a) the Client's duty to disclose all material facts in relation to the risk covered by the insurance before the insurance cover commences and throughout the lifetime of the policy; and
- (b) the consequences of any failure by the Client to disclose such material facts.

11.5. Statement of demands and needs

11.5.1. Providing a statement of demands and needs

Prior to the conclusion of a Contract of Insurance, an Insurance Intermediary must provide the Client with a statement of the demands and the needs of that Client, which may be in summary form, as well as the underlying reasons for any advice given to the Client in relation to that Contract of Insurance.

Guidance: Nature of statement of demands and needs

The statement should be provided in writing, but may be provided verbally where the Client requests it, or where immediate cover is necessary.

11.5.2. Ensuring suitability based on demands and needs

An Insurance Intermediary must only make a recommendation to a Retail Client to enter into a Contract of Insurance that is General Insurance where it has taken reasonable steps to ensure that the recommended Contract of Insurance is suitable in light of the Client's demands and needs.

11.5.3. Written confirmation of instructions

Where an Insurance Intermediary is instructed to obtain insurance, which is contrary to the advice that it has given to a Client, the Insurance Intermediary must obtain from the Client written confirmation of the Client's instructions before arranging or buying the relevant insurance.

11.6. Information about Contract of Insurance

11.6.1. Adequate information

An Insurance Intermediary must provide adequate information in good time and in a comprehensible form to enable a Client to make an informed decision about whether or not to enter a Contract of Insurance proposed by the Insurance Intermediary.

11.6.2. Policy summary

An Insurance Intermediary must provide a Retail Client with a policy summary explaining the terms of the Contract of Insurance:

- (a) the name of the insurer;
- (b) type of insurance and cover;
- (c) significant features and benefits;
- (d) significant or unusual exclusions or limitations;
- (e) applicable period of cover;
- (f) a statement, where relevant, that the consumer may need to review and update the cover periodically to ensure it remains adequate;
- (g) the procedure for handling complaints; and
- (h) contact details for notifying a claim.

11.7. Other requirements

11.7.1. Quotations

When giving a quotation, an Insurance Intermediary must take due care to ensure the accuracy of the quotation and its ability to obtain the insurance at the quoted terms.

11.7.2. Confirmation of cover

Where a Client concludes a Contract of Insurance, an Insurance Intermediary must, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide that Client with:

- (a) written confirmation and details of the insurance, including any changes to an existing Contract of Insurance; and
- (b) the full policy documentation.

11.7.3. Amendments

An Insurance Intermediary must:

- (a) respond promptly if a Client requests an amendment to its insurance policy;
- (b) provide the Client with details of any additional premium or charges that may need to be paid or which may be returned; and
- (c) provide the Client with written confirmation of any amendment and return any premium or charges due to the Client promptly.

11.7.4. Advance notification

If the insurance cover of a Client is due to expire or needs to be renewed, the Insurance Intermediary must give sufficient advance notification to the Client to allow that Client to consider whether it wishes to enter into a new policy or renew its existing policy.

11.7.5. Documentation on expiry or cancellation

When the insurance expires or is cancelled, an Insurance Intermediary must on request provide the Client with the documentation and information to which that Client is entitled.

11.7.6. Claims

Where an Insurance Intermediary handles claims it must:

- (a) handle claims promptly and fairly;
- (b) provide its Client with reasonable guidance on making a claim, and update it on the progress of its claim;
- (c) not unreasonably reject a claim (including by terminating or avoiding a policy); and
- (d) settle claims promptly once settlement terms are agreed.

11.8. Client money: Insurance Intermediation

11.8.1. Application

COB 11.8 applies to an Insurance Intermediary that receives or holds Money for, or on behalf of, a Client in the course of carrying on Insurance Intermediation.

A Client whose Money is required to be held in compliance with COB 11.8 is a "Segregated Client".

Guidance: Nature of Client Money in context of Insurance Intermediation

Client Money in this context may includes the following to the extent that they are received or held by the Insurance Intermediary:

- (a) premiums, additional premiums and return premiums of all kinds;
- (b) claims and other payments due under Contracts of Insurance;
- (c) refunds;
- (d) fees, charges, taxes and similar fiscal levies relating to Contracts of Insurance; or
- (e) discounts, commissions and brokerage.

11.8.2. Exception

COB 11.8 does not apply to an Authorised Firm that receives or holds Client Money in accordance with the Rules in COB 8 (Client Money).

11.8.3. Client Money

All Money received or held on behalf of a Client in the course of, or in connection with, carrying on Insurance Intermediation in or from the AIFC is Client Money, except Money which is:

- (a) due and payable by the Client to the Insurance Intermediary:
 - (i) for its own account; or
 - (ii) in its capacity as agent of an insurer where the Insurance Intermediary acts in accordance with COB 11.8.4;
- (b) otherwise received by the Insurance Intermediary under an arrangement made between an insurer and another Person that has authority to underwrite risks, settle claims, or handle refunds of premiums on behalf of that insurer outside the AIFC and where the Money relates to that business.

11.8.4. Holding money as agent of an insurer

Money received or held by an Insurance Intermediary is not Client Money for the purposes of this COB 11.8 where there is a written agreement in place between the Insurance Intermediary and the insurer to whom the relevant money is to be paid (or from whom they have been received) under which the insurer agrees that:

- (a) the Insurance Intermediary holds as agent for the insurer all money received by it in connection with Contracts of Insurance effected or to be effected by the insurer;
- (b) insurance cover is maintained for the Client once the money is received by the Insurance Intermediary; and
- (c) the insurer's obligation to make a payment to the Client is not discharged until actual receipt of the relevant money by the Client.

11.8.5. Duty to segregate Client Money

An Insurance Intermediary when dealing with Client Money must hold Client Money separate from its money. The Insurance Intermediary must segregate the Client Money by either:

- (a) paying it as soon as is practicable into a Client Money Account; or
- (b) paying it out in accordance with COB 11.8.6.

11.8.6. Money due to a Client from an Insurance Intermediary

If an Insurance Intermediary is liable to pay Money to a Client, it must as soon as possible:

- (a) pay the Money into a Client Money Account; or
- (b) pay it to, or to the order of, the Client.

11.8.7. Use of a Client Money Account

An Insurance Intermediary must not hold Money other than Client Money in a Client Money Account, other than:

- (a) a minimum sum required to open the Client Money Account, or to keep it open;
- (b) Money withdrawn as commission from the Client Money Account (where the Insurance Intermediary has received a premium from a Client or on behalf of the Client in accordance with its terms of business with that Client and the relevant insurer, and the commission is withdrawn before onward payment of that premium to the insurer);
- (c) Money received by way of mixed remittance (that is, part Client Money and part other Money) (provided the Insurance Intermediary pays the full amount into the Client Money Account, and transfers out that part of the payment which is not Client Money not later than 25 days after the day on which the remittance is

cleared);

(c) interest credited to the account which exceeds the amount payable to Clients as interest.

11.8.8. Client Money Account

An Insurance Intermediary must:

- (a) ensure that Client Money is held in one or more Client Money Accounts with one or more Third Party Account Providers;
- (b) take reasonable steps before opening a Client Money Account, and as often as is appropriate on a continuing basis (and no less than once in each financial year), to ensure that the Third Party Account Provider is appropriate for that purpose;
- (c) prior to operating a Client Money Account, give written notice to, and request written confirmation from, the Third Party Account Provider that the bank is not entitled to combine the Client Money Account with any other account unless that account is itself an Client Money Account held by the Authorised Firm, or to any charge, encumbrance, lien, right of set-off, compensation or retention against monies standing to the credit of the Client Money Account; and
- (d) ensure that each Client Money Account contains in its title the name of the Insurance Intermediary, together with the designation "Client Account".

Guidance: Due diligence

When assessing a Third Party Account Provider, an Insurance Intermediary should consider taking into account, among other matters:

- (a) the capital of the Third Party Account Provider;
- (b) the amount of Client Money placed, as a proportion of its overall capital and deposits;
- (c) the credit rating of the Third Party Account Provider (if available);
- (d) where such information is available, the level of risk in the investment and loan activities undertaken by it or members of its Group.

11.8.9. No confirmation from Third Party Account Provider

If a Third Party Account Provider has not provided the written confirmation referred to in 11.8.8(c) within 40 business days after the Authorised Firm made the request, the Authorised Firm must as soon as possible withdraw the Client Money held in the Client Money Account

with that Third Party Account Provider and deposit them in a Client Money Account with another Third Party Account Provider.

11.8.10. Derivatives in management of Client Money

An Insurance Intermediary may not use derivatives in the management of Client Money except for the prudent management of foreign exchange risks.

11.8.11. Untraceable clients

An Insurance Intermediary that has a credit balance for a Client who cannot be traced should not take credit for such an amount except where:

- (a) he has taken reasonable steps to trace the Client and to inform him that he is entitled to the money; and
- (b) at least six years has lapsed from the date the credit was initially notified to the Client.

11.8.12. Record keeping

An Insurance Intermediary must keep a copy of any agreement entered into between an insurer and that Insurance Intermediary acting as agent pursuant to COB 11.8.4 for at least six years from the date on which that agreement is terminated.

An Insurance Intermediary must keep records of all sums withdrawn from the Insurance Bank Account as a result of credit taken under COB 11.8.11 for at least six years from the date of withdrawal or realisation.

11.8.13. Distribution Event

Following a Distribution Event, an Insurance Intermediary must comply with the Client Money Distribution Rules and all Client Money will be subject to such Rules.

11.8.14. Client Money Distribution Rules

The requirements in this COB 11.8.14 are the Client Money Distribution Rules and to the extent that these Rules are inconsistent with the AIFC Insolvency Regulations, these Rules will prevail.

Following a Distribution Event, the Insurance Intermediary must distribute Money in the following order of priorities:

- (a) firstly, in relation to Client Money held in a Client Account on behalf of Segregated Clients, claims relating to that Money must be paid to each Segregated Client in full or, where insufficient funds are held in a Client Account, proportionately, in accordance with each Segregated Client's valid claim over that Money;
- (b) secondly, where the amount of Client Money in a Client Account is insufficient to satisfy the claims of Segregated Clients in respect of that Money, or not being immediately available to satisfy such claims, all other Money held by the Insurance Intermediary must be used to satisfy any outstanding amounts remaining payable to Segregated Clients but not satisfied from the application of (a) above;
- (c) thirdly, upon resolution of claims in relation to Segregated Clients, any Money remaining with the Insurance Intermediary must be paid to each Client in full or, where insufficient funds are held by the Insurance Intermediary, proportionately, in accordance with each Client's valid claim over that Money; and
- (d) fourthly, upon satisfaction of all claims in (a), (b) and (c) above, in the event of:
 - (i) the appointment of a liquidator, receiver or administrator, or trustee in bankruptcy over the Insurance Intermediary, payment must be made accordance with the AIFC Insolvency Regulations; or
 - (ii) all other Distribution Events, payment must be made in accordance with the direction of the AFSA.

11.8.15. Client reporting

In relation to each Client for whom it receives or holds Client Money, an Insurance Intermediary must provide at least once a year an audited statement of the Client Money.

12. TRUST SERVICE PROVIDERS

12.1. Application

COB 12 applies to a Trust Service Provider that is licensed to Provide Trust Services by the AFSA.

Guidance: Examples of Clients of a Trust Service Provider

The Client of a Trust Service Provider may be a settlor, trustee or named beneficiary of a trust.

12.2. Obligations of the Trust Service Provider

A Trust Service Provider must maintain proper standards of governance and professionalism and must comply with all applicable AIFC laws, Rules and Regulations relevant to Providing Trust Services.

12.3. Exercise of discretion

Where a Trust Service Provider is responsible for exercising discretion for, or in relation to, its Clients, it must exercise its discretion or other powers in a proper manner and for a proper purpose.

12.4. Delegation of duties or powers

Any delegation of duties or powers by a Trust Service Provider must be for a proper purpose, subject to appropriate oversight, and comply with all applicable AIFC laws, Rules and Regulations.

12.5. Professional indemnity insurance

A Trust Service Provider must at all times hold adequate professional indemnity insurance appropriate to the nature and size of its business. It must:

- (a) provide the AFSA with a copy of its professional indemnity insurance cover; and
- (b) notify the AFSA of:
 - (i) any changes to the cover including termination and renewal;

(ii) any claims in excess of USD 10,000.

12.6. Internal reporting

A Trust Service Provider must have arrangements for internal reporting to ensure that the directors or the partners receive sufficient information on the running of the business and the treatment of Clients.

12.7. Use of third parties

Where the Trust Service Provider appoints a third party in connection with a Client's affairs, for example to advise on or manage investments, the Trust Service Provider must carry out due diligence on that third party and continue to monitor its performance on an ongoing basis.

12.8. Qualification and experience

Staff employed or Persons recommended by the Trust Service Provider must have appropriate qualifications and experience.

12.9. Books and records

The books and records of a Trust Service Provider must be sufficient to demonstrate adequate and orderly management of Clients' affairs.

12.10. Due diligence

A Trust Service Provider must, at all times, have verified documentary evidence of the settlors, trustees (in addition to the Trust Service Provider itself) and principal named beneficiaries of trusts for which it Provides Trust Services.

In the case of discretionary trusts with the capacity for the trustee to add further beneficiaries, a Trust Service Provider must also have verified, where reasonably possible, documentary evidence of any Person who receives a distribution from the trust and any other Person who is named in a memorandum or letter of wishes as being a likely recipient of a distribution from a trust.

A Trust Service Provider must demonstrate that it has knowledge of the source of funds that have been settled into trusts or have been used to provide capital to companies, or have been used in transactions with which the Trust Service Provider has an involvement.

12.11. Fitness and Propriety of Persons acting as trustees

Where a Trust Service Provider arranges for a Person who is not an employee of the Trust Service Provider to act as trustee for a Client of the Trust Service Provider, the Trust Service Provider must ensure that such Person is fit and proper.

A Trust Service Provider must notify the AFSA:

- (a) of the appointment of a Person, including the name and business address if applicable and the date of commencement of the appointment; and
- (b) of the termination of the appointment of such a Person or the resignation of such Person.

13. ANCILLARY SERVICE PROVIDERS

13.1. Application

The Principles for Ancillary Service Providers set out in COB 13.2 apply to Ancillary Service Providers in respect of their provision of Ancillary Services.

13.2. Principles for Ancillary Service Providers

13.2.1. Principle 1 - Integrity

An Ancillary Service Provider must observe high standards of integrity and fair dealing.

13.2.2. Principle 2 - Independence

An Ancillary Service Provider must not allow its independence to be compromised.

13.2.3. Principle 3 - Good faith

An Ancillary Service Provider must act in good faith in its dealings with its Clients and the AFSA and other Financial Services Regulators.

13.2.4. Principle 4 - Good faith

An Ancillary Service Provider must act in the best interests of its Clients.

13.2.5. Principle 5 - Service

An Ancillary Service Provider must provide a proper standard of service to its clients.

13.2.6. Principle 6 - Legal and regulatory obligations

An Ancillary Service Provider must comply with its legal and regulatory obligations and deal with the AFSA and other Financial Services Regulators in an open, timely and co- operative manner.

13.2.7. Principle 7 - Governance

An Ancillary Service Provider must maintain sound governance arrangements and observe appropriate financial and risk management principles.

13.2.8. Principle 8 - Client Money and Client Assets

An Ancillary Service Provider must protect Client Money and Client Assets that it holds on behalf of Clients.

14. CREDIT RATING AGENCIES

14.1. Application

The Principles set out in COB 14.2 apply to Credit Rating Agencies.

14.2. Principles for Credit Rating Agencies

14.2.1. Principle 1 - Quality and integrity of the rating process

Credit Rating Agencies should endeavour to issue opinions that help to reduce the asymmetry of information among borrowers and lenders and Centre Participants more generally.

Guidance: Processes to ensure quality and integrity

When issuing opinions, a Credit Rating Agency should consider adopting the following processes:

- (a) Credit Rating Agencies should adopt and implement written procedures and methodologies to ensure that the opinions they issue are based on a fair and thorough analysis of all relevant information available to the Credit Rating Agency, and that their analysts perform their duties with integrity. Credit Rating Agency rating methodologies should be rigorous, systematic, and Credit Rating Agency ratings should be subject to some form of validation based on historical experience.
- (b) Credit Rating Agencies should monitor on an ongoing basis and regularly update an analysis and rating once a rating is issued whenever new information becomes available that causes the Credit Rating Agency to revise or terminate its opinion.
- (c) Credit Rating Agencies should maintain internal records to support their ratings.
- (d) Credit Rating Agencies should have sufficient resources to carry out high-quality credit assessments.
- (e) They should have sufficient personnel to properly assess the entities they rate, seek out information they need in order to make an assessment, and analyze all the information relevant to their decision-making processes.
- (f) Analysts employed by Credit Rating Agencies should use the methodologies established by the Credit Rating Agency and be professional, competent, and of high integrity.

14.2.2. Principle 2 – Independence and conflicts of interests

Credit Rating Agency ratings decisions should be independent and free from political or economic pressures and from conflicts of interests arising due to the Credit Rating Agency's ownership structure, business or financial activities, or the financial interests of the Credit Rating Agency's employees. Credit Rating Agencies should, as far as possible, avoid activities, procedures or relationships that may compromise or appear to compromise the independence and objectivity of

the credit rating operations.

Guidance: Processes to ensure independence and reduce conflicts of interest

A Credit Rating Agency should consider adopting the following processes:

- (a) Credit Rating Agencies should adopt written internal procedures and mechanisms to (1) identify, and (2) eliminate, or manage and disclose, as appropriate, any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may influence the opinions and analyses Credit Rating Agencies make or the judgment and analyses of the individuals the Credit Rating Agencies employ who have an influence on ratings decisions. Credit Rating Agencies are encouraged to disclose such conflict avoidance and management measures.
- (b) The credit rating a Credit Rating Agency assigns to an issuer should not be affected by the existence of or potential for a business relationship between the Credit Rating Agency (or its affiliates) and the issuer or any other party.
- (c) Credit Rating Agencies and Credit Rating Agency staff should not engage in any securities or derivatives trading presenting inherent conflicts of interest with the Credit Rating Agencies' ratings activities.
- (d) Reporting lines for Credit Rating Agency staff and their compensation arrangements should be structured to eliminate or effectively manage actual and potential conflicts of interest. A Credit Rating Agency analyst should not be compensated or evaluated on the basis of the amount of revenue that a Credit Rating Agency derives from issuers that the analyst rates or with which the analyst regularly interacts.
- (e) The determination of a credit rating should be influenced only by factors relevant to the credit assessment.
- (f) Credit Rating Agencies should disclose the nature of the compensation arrangement that exists with an issuer that the Credit Rating Agency rates.

14.2.3. Principle 3 – Transparency and timeliness of ratings disclosure

Credit Rating Agencies should make disclosure and transparency an objective in their ratings activities.

Guidance: Processes to ensure transparency and timeliness

A Credit Rating Agency should consider adopting the following processes:

- (a) Credit Rating Agencies should distribute in a timely manner their ratings decisions regarding publicly issued fixed-income securities or issuers of publicly traded fixed-income securities.
- (b) Credit Rating Agencies should disclose to the public, on a non-selective basis, any rating regarding publicly issued fixed income securities as well as any subsequent decisions to discontinue such a rating if the rating is based in whole or in part on material non-public information.
- (C) Credit Rating Agencies should publish sufficient information about their procedures and

methodologies so that outside parties can understand how a rating was arrived at by the Credit Rating Agency. This information should include (but not be limited to) the meaning of each rating category and the definition of default and the time horizon the Credit Rating Agency used when making a rating decision.

- (d) Credit Rating Agencies should publish sufficient information about the historical default rates of Credit Rating Agency rating categories and whether the default rates of these categories have changed over time, so that interested parties can understand the historical performance of each category and if and how ratings categories have changed.
- (e) Credit Rating Agencies should disclose if a rating is unsolicited.

14.2.4. Principle 4 – Confidential information

Credit Rating Agencies should maintain in confidence all non-public information communicated to them by any issuer, or its agents, under the terms of a confidentiality agreement or otherwise under a mutual understanding that the information is shared confidentially.

Guidance: Processes to ensure confidentiality

A Credit Rating Agency should consider adopting the following processes:

- (a) Credit Rating Agencies should adopt procedures and mechanisms to protect the non-public nature of information shared with them by issuers under the terms of a confidentiality agreement or otherwise under a mutual understanding that the information is shared confidentially.
- (b) Credit Rating Agencies should use non-public information only for purposes related to their rating activities or otherwise in accordance with their confidentiality agreements with the issuer.

15. COMPLAINTS HANDLING AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

15.1. Application

This chapter applies to an Authorised Firm, other than a Representative Office, that is licensed by the AFSA to carry on a Regulated Activity, in relation to Retail Clients and Professional Clients only.

15.2. Complaints handling

15.2.1. General requirement

An Authorised Firm must have arrangements in place for the handling of Complaints made against it by Clients.

The policies and procedures for handling Complaints must be in writing and ensure that Complaints are handled fairly, consistently and promptly.

15.2.2. Procedures available on request

An Authorised Firm must ensure that a copy of its Complaints handling procedures is available free of charge to any Client on request.

15.2.3. Proportionality

In establishing adequate Complaints handling policies and procedures, an Authorised Firm should have regard to:

- (a) the nature, scale and complexity of its business; and
- (b) its size and organisational structure.

Guidance: Period for resolving complaints

The AFSA considers 60 days from the receipt of a Complaint to be an appropriate period in which an Authorised Firm should be able to resolve most Complaints.

15.2.4. Receiving a Complaint

On receipt of a Complaint, an Authorised Firm must:

(a) acknowledge the Complaint promptly in writing;

- (b) provide the complainant with:
 - (i) the contact details of any individual responsible for handling the Complaint;
 - (ii) details of the Authorised Firm's Complaints handling procedures; and
 - (iii) a statement that a copy of the procedures is available free of charge upon request; and
- (c) investigate the Complaint.

Where appropriate, an Authorised Firm must update the complainant on the progress of the handling of the Complaint.

Guidance: Period for acknowledging complaints

The AFSA considers 7 days to be an adequate period in which an Authorised Firm should be able to acknowledge most Complaints.

The AFSA expects an update to be provided to the complainant in circumstances where the resolution of the Complaint is taking longer than 30 days.

15.2.5. Resolving a Complaint

When the Authorised Firm has completed its investigation of a Complaint, it must promptly:

- (a) advise the complainant in writing of the outcome;
- (b) provide the complainant with the proposed redress, if applicable; and
- (c) provide redress if accepted by the complainant.

If the complainant is not satisfied with the redress offered by the Authorised Firm, it must inform the complainant of other means of resolving the Complaint and provide him with the appropriate contact details upon request.

Guidance: Other means

Other means for resolving a Complaint may include arbitration or the AIFC Courts.

15.2.6. Employees handling complaints

As far as possible, an Authorised Firm must ensure that any individual handling the Complaint

was not involved in the conduct of the Financial Service about which the Complaint has been made, and is able to handle the Complaint in a fair and impartial manner.

An Authorised Firm must ensure that any individual responsible for handling the Complaint has sufficient authority to resolve the Complaint or has access to individuals with the necessary authority.

15.3. Referrals

15.3.1. Complaints involving other entities

If an Authorised Firm considers that another Centre Participant or any other Regulated Financial Institution is entirely or partly responsible for the subject matter of a Complaint, it may refer the Complaint, or the relevant part of it, to the other Centre Participant or any other authorised or regulated financial institution in accordance with COB 15.3.2.

15.3.2. Referral to other entities

To refer a Complaint, an Authorised Firm must:

- (a) inform the complainant promptly and in writing that it would like to refer the Complaint, and obtain the written consent of the complainant to do so;
- (b) if the complainant consents, refer the Complaint to the other Authorised Firm or Regulated Financial Institution promptly and in writing;
- (c) inform the complainant promptly and in writing that the Complaint has been referred and provide contact details; and
- (d) continue to handle any part of the Complaint not referred to the other Authorised Firm or Regulated Financial Institution.

15.4. Record keeping

15.4.1. General requirement

An Authorised Firm must maintain a record of all Complaints made against it for a minimum period of six years from the date of receipt of a Complaint.

15.4.2. Content of records

The record in COB 15.4.1 must contain the name of the complainant, the substance of the Complaint, a record of the Authorised Firm's response, and any other relevant

correspondence or Complaint.	records, and the	action taken by t	he Authorised Firm	to resolve each

16. RECORD KEEPING

16.1. Record keeping requirements

An Authorised Firm must, for a minimum of six years, maintain sufficient records in relation to each activity and function of the Authorised Firm. These must include, where applicable, the records kept in accordance with the rules in COB as summarised in the table in COB 16.2.

16.2. Table summarising record keeping requirements

COB reference	Nature of record	Length of record keeping requirement	Date from which record must be kept
COB 2.10	Record of Client classification	Six years	Date on which the business relationship with a Client ended
COB 3.5	Financial Promotion issued by, or on behalf of, the Authorised Firm	Six years	Date on which the Financial Promotion ceases to be made
COB 4.5	A record of each Client Agreement including any subsequent amendments to it as agreed with the Client	Six years	From the date the Client ceases to be a Client of the Authorised Firm
COB 5.5	Suitability report	Six years	From the date the Client ceases to be a Client of the Authorised Firm
COB 6.2.9	Records of orders and transactions	Six years	From date of order or transaction

	T	T	1
COB 7.4.5	Record of inducements disclosed	Six years	From the date on which the inducement was disclosed
COB 8.2.8	Record of Client Money received in the form of cheque, or other payable order	Six years	From date of receipt
COB 8.2.20	Records which enable an Authorised Firm to determine promptly the total amount of Client Money that it holds for each of its Clients	Six years	From the date the Client ceases to be a Client of the Authorised Firm
COB 8.3.15	Records in respect of Client Investments	Six years	From the date the Client ceases to be a Client of the Authorised Firm
COB 9.1.5	A copy of each confirmation note sent to a Client	Six years	From the date of despatch
COB 9.2.2	A copy of any periodic statement provided to a Client	Six years	From the date on which it was provided
COB 11.8.12	A copy of any agreement entered into between an insurer and that Insurance Intermediary acting as agent	Six years	From the date on which that agreement is terminated
COB 11.8.12	Records of all sums withdrawn from the Insurance Bank Account	Six years	From the date of withdrawal or realisation
COB 15.4.1	Record of all Complaints made against the Authorised Firm for a minimum period of six years	Six years	From the date of receipt of a Complaint

19. BANKS

19.1. Application

- (1) The rules in this chapter COB 17 apply to an Authorised Firm that is licensed by the AFSA to conduct the Regulated Activity of Accepting Deposits.
- (2) An Authorised Firm, that is licensed to conduct the Regulated Activity of Accepting Deposits is defined as a Bank in the AFSA rules. All references to a Bank in this refer to a Bank as defined in GEN and BBR rules.

19.2. Accepting Deposits

A Bank, in the course of Accepting Deposits, must not accept Deposits from Retail Clients.

19.3. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits—general requirements

- (1) A Bank accepting a Deposit from a customer must give the customer its terms of business well in advance, before the acceptance of the first Deposit from that customer.
- (2) This rule does not apply if the activity of accepting Deposits is carried on after the termination of the terms of business and the Bank is acting only for the purposes of fulfilling any obligations still outstanding under the terms of business.

19.4. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits - contract

- (1) A Bank must ensure that its terms of business for accepting a Deposit from a customer contain, in adequate detail, the basis on which it will accept the Deposit from that customer.
- (2) Without limiting (1), the Bank must ensure that the terms of business contain the information as specified by the rules in this chapter (Minimum content of terms of business— Accepting Deposits).
- (3) The Bank is not required to include information in the terms of business if the information is, by its nature, unavailable when the terms of business are given to the customer. If such information becomes available after the terms of business are given to the customer, the Bank must give the information to the customer as soon as practicable after it becomes available to the firm.

19.5. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits —multiple documents

A Bank's terms of business for a customer for the activity of Accepting Deposits may consist of 1 or more documents if it is made clear to the customer that collectively they make up the terms of business.

19.6. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits - amendment

If the terms of business of a Bank for a customer for the activity of Accepting Deposits allow the Bank to amend the terms of business without the customer's agreement, the Bank must not conduct business with or for the customer on the basis of an amendment of the terms of business unless the Bank has given the customer written notice of the amendment

- (a) at least 10 business days before the amendment is to take effect; or
- (b) if it is impractical to give that notice, as early as is practicable.

19.7. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits - recordkeeping

A Bank must keep a copy of a terms of business that it gives a customer under this chapter, and of each amendment of the terms of business, for at least 6 years after the day the Bank ceases to conduct business with or for the customer under the terms of business.

19.8. Terms of business for Accepting Deposits – minimum content

- (1) Commencement of the terms of business when and how the terms comes into force.
- (2) Regulatory status of the Bank as required by the GEN rules of the AFSA.
- (3) The services to be provided by the Bank, including, if applicable, the provision of credit, cheque clearing and provision of statements.
- (4) The Bank's fee payment terms, including, if appropriate
 - (a) how fees are calculated; and
 - (b) how fees are to be paid and collected; and
 - (c) how frequently fees are to be paid; and
 - (d) whether any other payment is receivable by the Bank (or to its knowledge by any of its associates) instead of fees in relation to a transaction executed by the Bank with or for the customer.
- (5) The Bank's terms relating to interest, including, if appropriate
 - (a) how interest is calculated; and
 - (b) how interest is charged and paid; and
 - (c) how frequently interest is charged and paid.
- (6) The Bank's approach to deal with any applicable conflicts of interest and material interests.
- (7) <u>Information about the Bank's internal complaint handling procedures, including information about how a complaint may be made to the Bank.</u>

- (8) The details of the arrangement for the customer to provide instructions to the Bank and for the Bank to acknowledge such instructions.
- (9) Method of terminating account relationships, either by the bank or by the customer and the consequences of termination in either case.

Schedule 1: TRANSACTION RECORDS

	MINIMUM CONTENTS OF TRANSACTION RECORDS
1.	RECEIPT OF CLIENT ORDER OR DISCRETIONARY DECISION TO TRANSACT
	An Authorised Firm must, pursuant to COB 6.2.9(a), make a record of the following:
	(a) the identity and account number of the Client
	(b) the date and time in the jurisdiction in which the instructions were received or the decision was taken by the Authorised Firm to deal
	(c) the identity of the Employee who received the instructions or made the decision to deal
	(d) the Investment, including the number of or its value and any price limit
	(e) whether the instruction relates to a purchase or sale
2.	EXECUTING A TRANSACTION
	An Authorised Firm must, pursuant to COB 6.2.9(b), make a record of the following
	(a) the identity and account number of the Client for whom the Transaction was Executed, or an indication that the Transaction was an Own Account Transaction
	(b) the name of the counterparty
	(c) the date and time in the jurisdiction in which the Transaction was Executed
	(d) the identity of the Employee executing the Transaction
	(e) the Investment, including the number of or its value and price
	(f) whether the Transaction was a purchase or a sale
3.	PASSING A CLIENT ORDER TO ANOTHER PERSON FOR EXECUTION
	An Authorised Firm must, pursuant to COB 6.2.9(c), make a record of the following

a) the identity of the Person instructed	
o) the terms of the instruction	
c) the date and time that the instruction was given	

Schedule 2: KEY INFORMATION AND CONTENT OF CLIENT AGREEMENT

The key information which an Authorised Firm is required to provide to a Client and include in the Client Agreement with that Client pursuant to COB 4 must include:

- (a) the core information set out below; and
- (b) where relevant, the additional information required for Investment Business and for Investment Management.

1.	CORE INFORMATION
	In the case of a Retail Client, the core information is:
	(a) The name and address of the Authorised Firm, and if it is a Subsidiary, the name and address of the ultimate Holding Company
	(b) The regulatory status of the Authorised Firm
	(c) when and how the Client Agreement is to come into force and how the agreement may be amended or terminated
	(d) Sufficient details of the service that the Authorised Firm will provide, including where relevant, information about any Financial Product or other restrictions applying to the Authorised Firm in the provision of its services and how such restrictions impact on the service offered by the Authorised Firm. If there are no such restrictions, a statement to that effect
	(e) Details of fees, costs and other charges and the basis upon which the Authorised Firm will impose those fees, costs and other charges
	(f) Details of any conflicts of interests for the purposes of disclosure
	(g) Key particulars of the Authorised Firm's Complaints handling procedures and a statement that a copy of the procedures is available free of charge upon request
	In the case of a Professional Client, the core information is the information referred to in (a), (b), (c) and (e) above.

	In the case of a Market Counterparty, the core information is the information referred to in (a) and (b) above.
2.	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR INVESTMENT BUSINESS
	The additional information required for Investment Business is:
	(a) the arrangements for giving instructions to the Authorised Firm and acknowledging those instructions
	(b) information about any agreed investment parameters
	(c) the arrangements for notifying the Client of any Transaction Executed on his behalf
	(d) if the Authorised Firm may act as principal in a Transaction, when it will do so
	(e) the frequency of any periodic statements and whether those statements will include some measure of performance, and if so, what the basis of that measurement will be
	(f) when the obligation to provide best execution can be and is to be waived, a statement that the Authorised Firm does not owe a duty of best execution or the circumstances in which it does not owe such a duty
	(g) where applicable, the basis on which assets comprised in the portfolio are to be valued
3.	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
	The additional information required where an Authorised Firm acts as an Investment Manager is:
	(a) the initial value of the managed portfolio
	(b) the initial composition of the managed portfolio
	(c) the period of account for which periodic statements of the portfolio
	(d) in the case of discretionary investment management activities:
	(i) the extent of the discretion to be exercised by the Authorised Firm,

- including any restrictions on the value of any one Investment or the proportion of the portfolio which any one Investment or any particular kind of Investment may constitute; or that there are no such restrictions;
- (ii) whether the Authorised Firm may commit the Client to supplement the funds in the portfolio, and if it may include borrowing on his behalf:
 - (A) the circumstances in which the Authorised Firm may do so;
 - (B) whether there are any limits on the extent to which the Authorised Firm may do so and, if so, what those limits are;
 - (C) any circumstances in which such limits may be exceeded; and
 - (D) any margin lending arrangements and terms of those arrangements;
- (iii) that the Authorised Firm may enter into Transactions for the Client, either generally or subject to specified limitation; and
- (iv) where the Authorised Firm may commit the Client to any obligation to underwrite or sub-underwrite any issue or offer for sale of Securities:
 - (A) whether there are any restrictions on the categories of Securities which may be underwritten and, if so, what these restrictions are; and
 - (B) whether there are any financial limits on the extent of the underwriting and, if so, what these limits are.

Schedule 3: TRADE CONFIRMATION

An Authorised Firm must include the following general information in a trade confirmation:		
(a)	the Authorised Firm's name and address;	
(b)	whether the Authorised Firm Executed the Transaction as principal or agent	
(c)	the Client's name, account number or other identifier;	
(d)	a description of the Investment or Fund, including the amount invested or number of units involved;	
(e)	whether the Transaction is a sale or purchase;	
(f)	the price or unit price at which the Transaction was Executed;	
(g)	if applicable, a statement that the Transaction was Executed on an Executio Only basis;	
(h)	the date and time of the Transaction;	
(i)	the total amount payable and the date on which it is due;	
(j)	the amount of the Authorised Firms charges in connection with the Transaction charges and the amount of any Mark-up or Mark-do Fees, taxes or duties;	
(k)	the amount or basis of any charges shared with another Person or statemer that this will be made available on request; and	
(1)	for Collective Investment Funds, at statement that the price at which Transaction has been Executed is on a Historic Price or Forward Price basis the case may be.	

2.	ADDIT	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: DERIVATIVES		
		In relation to Transactions in Derivatives, an Authorised Firm must include the following additional information:		
	(a)	the maturity, delivery or expiry date of the Derivative;		
	(b)	in the case of an Option, the date of exercise or a reference to the last exercise date;		
	(c)	whether the exercise creates a sale or purchase in the underlying asset;		
	(d)	the strike price of the Option; and		
	(e)	if the Transaction closes out an open Futures position, all essential details required in respect of each contract comprised in the open position and each contract by which it was closed out and the profit or loss to the Client arising out of closing out that position (a difference account).		

	CONTENT OF PERIODIC STATEMENTS: INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT			
1.	GENERAL INFORMATION			
		A periodic statement, as at the end of the period covered, must contain the following general information:		
	(a) the number, description and value of each Investment;			
	(b) the amount of cash held;			
	(c)	the total value of the portfolio; and		
	(d) calcu	a statement of the basis on which the value of each Investment has been lated.		
2.	ADDIT	IONAL INFORMATION: DISCRETIONARY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES		
	Where an Authorised Firm acts as an Investment Manager on a discretionary basis, the periodic statement must also include the following additional information:			
	(a)	a statement of which Investments, if any, were at the closing date loaned to any third party and which Investments, if any, were at that date charged to secure borrowings made on behalf of the portfolio;		
	(b)	the aggregate of any interest payments made and income received during the account period in respect of loans or borrowings made during that period;		
	(c)	details of each Transaction which have been entered into for the portfolio during the period;		
	(d)	the aggregate of Money and details of all Investments transferred into and out of the portfolio during the period;		
	(e)	the aggregate of any interest payments, including the dates of their application and dividends or other benefits received by the Authorised Firm for the portfolio during that period;		
	(f)	a statement of the aggregate Charges of the Authorised Firm and its Associates; and		
	(g)	a statement of the amount of any Remuneration received by the Authorised		

Firm or its Associates or both from a third party. 3. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: CONTINGENT LIABILITY INVESTMENTS In the case where Contingent Liability Investments are involved, an Authorised Firm must also include the following additional information: (a) the aggregate of Money transferred into and out of the portfolio during the valuation period; (b) in relation to each open position in the account at the end of the account period, the unrealised profit or loss to the Client (before deducting or adding any Commission which would be payable on closing out); (c) in relation to each Transaction Executed during the account period to close out a Client's position, the resulting profit or loss to the Client after deducting or adding any Commission; the aggregate of each of the following in, or relating to, the Client's portfolio at (d) the close of business on the valuation date: (i) cash; (ii) Collateral value; (iii) management fees; and (iv) commissions; and Option account valuations in respect of each open Option contained in the (e) account on the valuation date stating: the Share, Future, index or other Investment involved; (i) (ii) the trade price and date for the opening Transaction, unless the valuation statement follows the statement for the period in which the Option was opened; and (iii) the market price of the contract; and (f) the exercise price of the contract.

Schedule 5: FINANCIAL PROMOTIONS

	,
	A Financial Promotion must contain the information specified in this table:
1.	The name of the Authorised Firm communicating the Financial Promotion or on whose behalf the Financial promotion is being communicated.
	This may be a trading name or shortened version of the legal name of the Authorised Firm, provided that the Client can identify the Authorised Firm from it.
2.	If the Financial Promotion has been made for an Authorised Firm by another person, the name of the other Person.
3.	The Authorised Firm's regulatory status.
4.	The address of the Authorised Firm making the Financial Promotion or a contact point (for example, a web site) from which the address is available.
5.	The date of issue and, if applicable, the expiry date of the Financial Promotion.
6.	A statement such that the Financial Promotion is clearly identifiable as a Financial Promotion.
7.	If the Financial Service or Financial Product places the Client's capital at risk, a clear statement to that effect.
8.	If the Financial Service or Financial Product has a complex charging structure or in relation to which the Authorised Firm will receive two or more elements of remuneration, a clear explanation of the charging or remuneration structure.
9.	The intended audience of the Financial Promotion and, if the Financial Promotion is intended only for Professional Clients or Market Counterparties, a clear statement to that effect and that no other person should act upon it.